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BOARD’S REPORT 
Dear Members, 
 
Your directors are pleased to present the Sixth Board’s Report of API Holdings Limited (“Company”) 
together with the audited financial statements (consolidated and standalone) of the Company for the 
financial year ended March 31, 2025. 
 
During the year, the Company has strategically realigned its focus to improve its Earnings Before 
Interest, Tax, Depreciation, and Amortization (EBITDA), by enhancing operational efficiencies and 
bringing better synergies between its business operations. In line with this strategy, the management 
undertook the following key initiatives: 
 
All references in this section to “Company”, “we”, “us” or “our” shall refer to the Company together with 
its subsidiaries on a consolidated basis. 
 
Sustainable Revenue Growth with focus on quality and consumer experience: 
 
Company focused on profitable customer segment and improvement in service levels while migrating 
to better platform which caused some disruption for certain part of the year. 
 

• Focus on quality: Across all our businesses, emphasis was laid on better quality and enhanced 
customer experience. As an illustration 100% of our diagnostic labs are NABL accredited (provided 
to top 2% of all labs in India). 

• Focus on high value profitable segment: Within the PharmEasy platform, there has been a targeted 
approach to increase the active user base (7% increase Mar25 vs Mar24) as well as the loyalty user 
base. Further, mix of revenue from Diagnostic business on Pharmeasy platform having higher GM 
has substantially increased. In the hospital and retailer business the Company has increased its 
focus on higher profitable customers.  

• Maximising capacity utilisation: Improving capacity utilisation of our fulfillment and warehousing 
infrastructure by rationalising & integrating supply chain across the country.  

• Wallet Share Enhancement: A concerted effort has been made to augment wallet share within 
existing chemist and hospital business, through improving customer experience and proposition. 

• Leveraging on digital capabilities, Company has also tapped in Quick Commerce segment during 
the year. 

 
Margin Enhancement: 

 

• Product Mix Optimisation: The Company strategically increased margins by focusing on the sale of 
higher-margin products, particularly its own private label brands. Further efforts were made to 
increase GM by optimising discount structure in B2R business.  

• Sales Mix Adjustment: A deliberate shift was made in the sales mix to prioritise and grow higher-
margin comprehensive care opportunities across all channels such as providing diagnostics services 
to existing customers who procure medicines from us. 
 
 
 



 
 

 

 
 

Cost Optimization: 
 

• Workforce Rationalisation: Substantial optimisation in employee expenses ensued through the 
optimisation of supply chain, back-office and technology headcount. 

• Expense Rationalisation: Significant reduction was observed in Expected credit loss provision 
primarily on account of robust monitoring of credit limit exposure and efficient collection. This was 
offset by higher manpower charges (platform migration) and legal and professional expenses.  

 
Cash Conservation: 
 

• Working Capital Optimisation: Focused on working capital optimisation through optimisation of 
inventory management and improved collections for receivables. Overall, core working capital days 
reduced from 55 days at March 2024 to 50 days at March 2025. 

 
These strategic actions underscore the Company's commitment to financial prudence, operational 
efficiency, and sustained value creation. In our opinion, these steps have built a strong foundation for 
building a resilient and agile financial future. 
 
OPERATIONS AT GLANCE (AT A CONSOLIDATED LEVEL): 
 
Our financial year ends on March 31 of each year. Accordingly, references to “Fiscal 2025” and 
“Financial Year 2025” are to the 12-month period ended March 31, 2025. Also, references in this section 
to “Fiscal 2024” and “Financial Year 2024” are to the 12-month period ended March 31, 2024.  
 
Key terms and definitions used 
 

Terms  Description 

ERP Enterprise resource planning 

OTC Over-the-counter medication 

Private label products Medical products procured by Company from contract manufacturers and 
sold by Company under our own brands 

 
Our Products and Services 
We earn revenue through two businesses – sale of products and sale of services. 
 
Sale of Products 
 
Our Revenue for sale of products in Fiscal 2025 is INR 50,976 million. This includes revenue from  
a) Distribution to retailer  
b) Distribution to chemist/institutions and  
c) Distribution to Hospitals 
d) Others 
 
a. Distribution to retailer 

 
We sell pharmaceutical, OTC, surgical, consumables and private label products procured from 
pharmaceutical companies, manufacturers, and wholesalers to retailers (which includes offline as 
well as online retailers) as well as hospital and healthcare institutions across the country through a 
technology powered platform. In Fiscal 2025, this business generated revenue of INR 8,708 million 
and contributed 17.1% of consolidated revenues from sale of products in Fiscal 2025.  
 
To drive profitability, improve pricing and prioritise acquisition of high value customers, the 
management has focussed on increasing wallet share from existing customer, targeting higher 
lifetime value therapies (chronic therapy exhibits higher frequently vs one time purchase associated 
with acute therapies), optimisation of targeted marketing spends on the PharmEasy platform to 
increase the active user base.  

 
b. Distribution to chemist and institutions 

 
We operate a technology-powered distribution business under which we procure pharmaceutical, 



 
 

 

 
 

OTC, surgical, consumables from pharmaceutical companies and sell to local chemists and 
institutions, which include large pharmacies, hospitals, doctors, and clinics across the country. We 
sell these products both directly as well as using technology provided by Retailio. We refer to this 
business as Retailio 1P.  

 
In Fiscal 2025 our Retailio 1P business generated revenue of INR 33,428 million and contributed 
65.6% of consolidated revenues from sale of products in Fiscal 2025. The business has been 
focused on increasing profitable and sustainable sales growth by: 

• Increase in revenue per retailer. Average revenue per retailer has increased from INR 48k in 
Mar24 to INR 53k in Mar25 primarily on account of improved service level, better planning / 
controls on beat plans and its adherence by sales team. Further capacity utilisation has been 
improved in our existing sales and warehouse infrastructure providing us with improved unit 
economics.  

• Increase in customer wallet share. This has been made possible by providing chemists and 
retailers with better order fulfilment rate, quick delivery timelines and improved other services 
such as expiry and returns management. 

 
c. Distribution to hospital 

 
In Fiscal 2025, Aknamed generated revenue of INR 8,754 million. In this business we have 
focussed on profitable customers, increasing the wallet share of our existing hospital customers, 
expanding product portfolio to provide a wide selection. This business contributed 17.2% of 
consolidated revenues from sale of products in Fiscal 2025.  
 

Sale of Services 
 

Our Revenue from sale of services was Fiscal 2025: INR 7,569 million. This includes revenue primarily 
from: 
 
a) Diagnostics  
b) Other Services 

 
a. Diagnostic services 

 
Thyrocare offers a comprehensive portfolio of more than 1000+ diagnostics tests through 29 
diagnostic labs as of March 2025. We have 29 NABL (National Accreditation Board for Testing and 
Calibration Laboratories) accredited labs as of March 2025 (March 2024: 25 NABL labs) as we 
increasingly emphasise on quality. Thyrocare offers this service to franchise partners, consumers, 
hospitals, diagnostic companies, and independent phlebotomists. 
 
The key milestones were: 

 

• The Company increased the number of labs accredited by the National Accreditation Board for 
Testing and Calibration Laboratories (“NABL”) from 25 (Mar24) to 29 (Mar25).  

• The Company conducted around 168 million tests, representing a 14% year-on-year growth.  

• The Company’s active franchisee base increased to over 11,000+, representing a 16% year-
on-year growth. 

 
In addition, diagnostic services are also made available through our marketplace brand PharmEasy 
Labs, which recorded revenues of INR 1,237 million in the Financial Year 2024-25. 

 
b. Other Services 

  
Other services including fulfilment (services to customer for pharmaceutical and OTC products sold 
on PharmEasy marketplace) and technology services generated revenue of INR 344 million in 
Fiscal 2025. 

 
Retailio provides technology which enables wholesalers and pharmacies to connect and sell a wide 
range of pharma and other medical products. It is available as a mobile app and web application.  

 



 
 

 

 
 

 
 

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS 

 
The Company’s audited standalone and consolidated financial performance for the financial year ended 
March 31, 2025, is summarised below:          

(Amount: INR in millions) 

 Particulars 
Standalone (Audited) Consolidated (Audited) 

Fiscal 2023-24 Fiscal 2024-25 Fiscal 2023-24 Fiscal 2024-25 

Revenue from 
operations 

5,137 5,497 56,643 58,722 

Other Income 5,455 2,837 946 1,079 

Total Revenue 10,592 8,334 57,589 59,800 

Less: Total 
Expense 

14,893 14,383 72,548 72,086 

Loss before 
share of profit of 
associates, 
exceptional items 
and tax  

(4,301) (6,049) (14,959) (12,285) 

Share of profit of 
associates, net of 
tax 

- - 9 82 

Loss before 
exceptional items 
and tax  

(4,301) (6,049) (14,950) (12,204) 

Exceptional 
items 

17,270 8,298 10,270 2,965 

Loss before tax (21,571) (14,347) (25,220) (15,169) 

Less: Current Tax - - 379 651 

        Deferred Tax - - (270) (102) 

        Tax expense 
pertaining to prior 
periods.  

- - 6 6 

Profit/ (Loss) 
from continuing 
operations 

(21,571) 
 

(14,347) (25,335) (15,724) 

Discontinued 
operations: 

    

Profit/ (Loss) 
before tax from 
discontinued 
operations 

- - - - 

Tax (expenses) 
/credit of 
discontinued 
operations 

- - - - 

Profit/ (Loss) 
from 
discontinued 
operations 

- - - - 

Other 
Comprehensive 
Income 

(10) (2) 23 (0) 



 
 

 

 
 

 Particulars 
Standalone (Audited) Consolidated (Audited) 

Fiscal 2023-24 Fiscal 2024-25 Fiscal 2023-24 Fiscal 2024-25 

Total 
comprehensive 
income for the 
year 

(21,581) (14,349) (25,312) (15,724) 

 
The following table sets forth select financial data from our consolidated audited statements of profit 
and loss for Fiscal 2024 and Fiscal 2025, the components of which are also expressed as a percentage 
of revenue from operations for such years: 
 
Audited Financial Results 

  (Amount: INR in millions) 

Particulars Fiscal 2024 Fiscal 2025 

 Amount  % of revenue from 
operations 

Amount  % of revenue from 
operations 

Revenue from 
operations 

56,643 100.0% 58,722 100.0% 

EBITDA before 
exceptional items and 
ESOP expense 

       (4,248) -7.5% (1,791) -3.0% 

Loss before 
exceptional items and 
tax 

(14,950) -26.4%      (12,204) -20.8% 

Loss for the year / 
period 

(25,335) -44.7%  (15,724) -26.8% 

 
Cash flow 

(Amount: INR in millions) 

Particulars Fiscal 2024 Fiscal 2025 

Cash flow from operating activity (611) (1,149) 

Cash flow from investing activities (12,610) 8,032 

Cash flow from financing activities 14,568 (8,968) 

Net cash flow 1,347 (2,085) 

Note: Cash flow from investing activities includes net amount withdrawal in fixed deposits (INR 6,617 
in FY25). 
^ EBITDA – Earnings before Interest, Tax, Depreciation and Amortisation, ESOP – Employees Stock 
Options Plan. 
 
Commentary on audited financial results Fiscal 24 v. Fiscal 25: 
 
Revenue from operations 
 
The Company concentrated on higher margin customers and foregoing low margin customers and 
business. As a result, while the revenue growth is 3.7%, EBITDA margins have improved substantially 
in this fiscal year. Further, the Company maximised utilisation of its existing warehouse facilities, sales 
infrastructure and marketing spends by driving efficiency and consolidation.  
 
Our revenue from sale of goods increased by 3.7% primarily due to: 

• Sales to retailers recorded four consecutive quarters of QoQ growth, following eight straight 
quarters of decline.  

• Sales to Hospital decreased due to forgoing of customers with lower margins and high working 
capital requirements. The Company focussed on improving service levels through better fulfilment 
and faster delivery, which in turn helped in increasing our wallet share. 

• Sales to Chemist/institutions increased on account of better availability and services. 
 

Our revenue from sale of services and other operations primarily relates to Thyrocare and API 
diagnostic services, licensing of internet portals or technology platforms or mobile applications related 



 
 

 

 
 

to sales and distribution of pharmaceutical and cosmetic goods, teleconsulting, logistic services, etc. 
 
The Diagnostic business grew due to improved performance of Thyrocare in Fiscal 2025 (grew by 
20+%), which was primarily on account of expansion in test menu (1000+) which includes 
Histopathology, Coagualution, etc and increase in franchisee network (by 1500+ in Fiscal 2025).  
 
EBITDA before exceptional items and ESOP expense 
 
Our EBITDA before exceptional items and ESOP expense as a % of revenue improved to (3%) in Fiscal 
25 [Fiscal 24: (7.5%)] due to optimisation of following expenses: 
 

• Employee benefit expense: Reduction in cost due to optimisation and centralisation of operational 
team, non-profitable warehouse closure, shut down of non-strategic low margin initiative and 
optimisation/centralisation of support functions. 
 

• Other expenses: Significant reduction was observed in Expected credit loss provision primarily 
on account of robust monitoring of credit limit exposure and efficient collection. This was offset 
by higher manpower charges (platform migration) and legal and professional expenses.  

 
ESOP expense and exceptional items: 
 

• Employee Stock Option Plan (ESOP) Expenses: 
 
The Company offers stock options to its employees as a means of incentivising them for long-term 
value creation of the organisation. Expenses related to Employee Stock Option Plans (ESOP) are 
recorded by calculating the variance between the grant price to employees and the fair market 
value as on the date of grant. This expense is then spread out over the duration during which 
employees have the option to exercise these stock options. Fair market value on grant dates gets 
fixed as per Indian accounting standard and cannot be revised post grant of options. 
  
Amount of expense charged is INR 4,822 million (FY 24: INR 2,219 million). The options granted 
in previous year(s) are still valued at the fair market value existing at grant date, resulting in higher 
charge to profit and loss account. Options granted during the year have been valued at the lower 
fair market value in line with revised Company valuation.  
 

• Impairment in Value: 
 
The Company conducts an annual reassessment of the recoverable value/value in use of its 
business units. This involves evaluating financial projections aligned with the Company's strategy 
and macroeconomic factors as of the year-end date. The recoverable value is determined using 
discounted cash flow or market multiple methods. If the computed recoverable value is lower than 
the recorded amount in the books, an impairment charge is incurred in the profit and loss account.  

 
There was charge to statement of profit and loss account of INR 2,520 million (FY 24: INR 6,550 
million). INR 1,750 million towards impairment primarily with respect to business with retailer and 
INR 770 million towards Investments and loans including interest receivables with respect to Impex 
Healthcare (Associate company). 
 

• Other exceptional items: 
 
Loss on sale of investments in Associates and subsidiary of INR 445 million. In FY 23-24, adjusted 
consideration charges of INR 295.00 million determined as payable to PUFT as per the terms of 
the MoU dated 4th December 2023 between API (“Purchaser” or the “Company”), Medlife 
International Private Limited, Prasid Uno Family Trust ("PUFT"), and other Sellers. The Company 
has made the payments of the same in Q1 of FY 2024-25. 

 
Loss for the year 
 

Loss before exceptional items and tax as a % of revenue has improved by 33.6% (Fiscal 2025: -
20.8%; Fiscal 2024: -32.4%) on account of rationalisation of costs and a focus on gross margin 



 
 

 

 
 

expansion. Including exceptional items, our loss after tax for the year as a % of revenue is 26.8% 
in Fiscal 25 (Fiscal 24: 44.7%).  

 
Cash flow 
 

During the year, net cash outflow from operating activities was INR 1,149 million primarily on 
account of tax outflow (INR 424m), changes in working capital (INR 319m) and operating loss (INR 
405m).  
 
Further, during the year Company sold its investments in Associates which resulted in inflow of 
INR 1,018m. Financing activities majorly includes debt repayment and interest payout to Goldman 
Sach and Evox of INR 17,720m and INR 2,509m respectively.   
  
 

(A) MAJOR EVENTS UNDERTAKEN BY THE COMPANY DURING THE FINANCIAL YEAR 
 

During the financial year under review, following major events were undertaken by the Company 
and its subsidiaries:  
 
1. Changes in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures 

 
Details of change in subsidiaries, associates and joint venture of the Company during the financial 
year are detailed below: 

 
a. Acquisition of equity shares of Mahaveer Medi-Sales Private Limited: 

The Company acquired 34% of the share capital of Mahaveer Medi-Sales Private Limited 
(“Mahaveer”), an existing step-down subsidiary of the Company. Pursuant to the aforesaid 
acquisition, the holding of the Company in Mahaveer increased to 85% on fully diluted basis.  
 

b. Acquisition of equity shares of Aushad Pharma Distributors Private Limited: 
The Company acquired 8.9% of the share capital of Aushad Pharma Distributors Private Limited 
(“Aushad”), an existing step-down subsidiary of the Company. Pursuant to the aforesaid 
acquisition, the holding of the Company in Aushad increased to 60% on fully diluted basis.  
 

c. Acquisition of equity shares and compulsorily convertible debentures (“CCDs”) of Aryan 
Wellness Private Limited: 
The Company acquired 20% of the fully diluted share capital of Aryan Wellness Private Limited 
(“Aryan”), an existing step-down subsidiary of the Company. Pursuant to the aforesaid 
acquisition, the holding of the Company in Aryan increased to 100% on fully diluted basis, 
making Aryan a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company. 
 

d. Additional equity infusion in Think Health Diagnostics Private Limited:  
During the financial year under review, Thyrocare Technologies Limited (“Thyrocare”), an 
existing step-down subsidiary of the Company had made an additional equity infusion in Think 
Health Diagnostics Private Limited, wholly owned subsidiary of Thyrocare. 
 

e. Additional equity infusion in Thyrocare Laboratories (Tanzania) Limited:  
During the financial year under review, Thyrocare had made additional equity infusion of USD 
125,000 in Thyrocare Laboratories (Tanzania) Limited, (“Thyrocare Tanzania”). Effective April 
1, 2025, Thyrocare Tanzania became a subsidiary of Thyrocare.  
 

f. Other Changes- During the financial year under review, the following other changes occurred 
in the Company’s subsidiaries and associates: 
 

o Reenav Pharma Private Limited ceased to be a step-down subsidiary of the Company. 
o Marg ERP Limited ceased to be an associate company of the Company. 
o Healthchain Private Limited, a step-down subsidiary of the Company, had no assets or 

liabilities and filed an application for voluntary strike-off with the Ministry of Corporate Affairs on 
February 11, 2025. The strike-off process was completed on April 29, 2025, and accordingly, 
Healthchain ceased to be a step-down subsidiary of the Company. 



 
 

 

 
 

 
Except as detailed above, there were no changes in subsidiaries, associates and / or joint ventures of 
the Company during the financial year under review. 

 
The performance and financial position of each of the subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures for the 
financial year ended March 31, 2025, is annexed in the prescribed form AOC-1 as Annexure - I to this 
Report.  
 
Any member may obtain a copy of audited financial statements of subsidiary companies as per the 
provisions of Section 136 of the Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”), by separately reaching out to the 
Company at its registered office. 
 
2. Changes in share capital of the Company: 
 
Changes in paid-up share capital 

 
During the financial year under review, the Company made the following allotments pursuant to rights 
issue, private placement, ESOP exercises, and conversion of CCPS A and CCPS B: 

• 27,62,33,280 equity shares allotted pursuant to ESOP exercises and conversion of CCPS A 
and CCPS B. 

• 18,63,74,897 Series B CCPS allotted pursuant to rights issue and private placement. 
 
All equity shares allotted during the financial year under review rank pari passu with the existing equity 
shares of the Company. 
 
3. Redemption of Unlisted, Unrated, Secured, Redeemable, Non-Convertible Debentures 

(“NCDs”) and incidental matters related thereto: 
  
During the financial year under review, in accordance with the terms of the Framework Agreement 
entered into between the Company and Vistra ITCL (India) Limited (“Debenture Trustee”) dated 
December 01, 2023, as amended from time to time, the Company redeemed (i) Tranche 2 NCDs 
having a nominal value of INR 6,412.90 million; (ii) Tranche 4A NCDs having nominal value of INR 
6,600 million; and (iii) Tranche 4B NCDs having nominal value of INR 6,600 million; and (iv) paid 
early redemption charges amounting to INR 3,424.94 million.  
 
Additionally, the Company had, in accordance with the supplemental debenture trust deed, prepaid 
the entire accrued and compounded PIK and the applicable Redemption Premium and all other 
applicable amounts on such accrued and compounded PIK until July 05, 2024, without the 
requirement of paying the applicable Make Whole Amount on accrued PIK and its components.  
 
The terms of the Tranche 1 NCDs, Tranche 3A and 3B NCDs which will survive the settlement and 
remain outstanding shall be governed by the provisions of the fourth amended and restated 
debenture trust deed executed between the Company and the debenture trustee on December 1, 
2023. 
 
4. Alteration of Articles of Association: 
The Board of Directors of the Company at its meeting held on May 15, 2024 approved the adoption 
of amended Articles of Association incorporating the provisions of the Eleventh Amended and 
Restated Shareholders Agreement dated October 26, 2023, as amended from time to time ("11th 
SHA"). The said amended Articles of Association was subsequently approved by the shareholders 
of the Company through postal ballot on August 14, 2024. 
 

5. Acquisition of Business: 
Thyrocare acquired diagnostic and pathological services business of Polo Labs Private Limited and 
Vimta Labs Limited, on a going concern through Business Transfer Agreement. 

 
(B) MATERIAL CHANGES AFFECTING THE FINANCIAL POSITION BETWEEN END OF THE 

FINANCIAL YEAR AND THE DATE OF THE REPORT  
 



 
 

 

 
 

The details of material changes affecting the financial position between end of the financial year i.e. 
from April 1, 2025, and the date of this report of the Board together with their rational are as under: 

 
1. Changes in paid-up share capital: 

 
Subsequent to the end of the financial year ended March 31, 2025, the Company had made 
allotment of 3,44,06,341 equity shares pursuant to ESOP exercise and conversion of CCPS A and 
CCPS B. All equity shares allotted rank pari passu with the existing equity shares of the Company. 
 

2. Acquisition of stake of other companies: 
 
Acquisition of equity shares and compulsorily convertible preference shares (“CCPS I”) of 
Aarman Solutions Private Limited:  
 
The Company had acquired additional 5.51% of the fully diluted share capital of Aarman Solutions 
Private Limited (“Aarman”), thereby increasing its aggregate shareholding in Aarman to 25.50%. 
Pursuant to the said acquisition, Aarman has become an associate company.  
 

(C) DIRECTORS AND KEY MANAGERIAL PERSONNEL 
 
During the year under review, in accordance with the provisions of the Act and the rules made 
thereunder following changes occurred in the composition of Board and Key Managerial Personnel: 
 
Directors 
 

• Mr. Hardik Dedhia (DIN: 06660799) and Dr. Dhaval Shah (DIN: 07485688) were appointed as 
Whole-time directors of the Company, effective from May 15, 2024, for a tenure upto September 30, 
2026. 
 

• Dr. Ranjan Pai (DIN: 00863123), Mr. Shyam Powar (DIN: 01679598) and Mr. Dovaldas Buzinskas 
(DIN: 08935969) were appointed as Director (Non-Executive and Non-Independent) directors 
effective from May 15, 2024.  
 

• Mr. Dharmil Sheth (DIN:06999772) and Mr. Harsh Parekh (DIN:06661731) had tendered their 
resignations from the post of Whole-time directors of the Company with effect from the closing of 
business hours on May 15, 2024. 
 
The Board expresses its deep appreciation for the guidance and co-operation provided by the 
directors during their tenure with the Company.  
 

Subsequent to the end of the financial year, 
 

• Mr. Rahul Guha (DIN: 09588432) was proposed to be appointed as Managing Director and Chief 
Executive Officer of the Company w.e.f. August 27, 2025. He is also the Managing Director and 
Chief Executive Officer of Thyrocare Technologies Limited, a step-down subsidiary of the Company. 
 

• Mr. Siddharth Shah (DIN: 05186193) shall complete his tenure as Managing Director and Chief 
Executive Officer of the Company on August 26, 2025. The Board had approved his appointment as 
Executive Director, designating him as Vice Chairman of the Board, effective from August 27, 2025.  

 
Declaration by Independent Directors 
 
During the financial year under review, all the independent directors of the Company have given their 
respective declaration(s) of independence in terms of Section 149(6) of the Act.  
 
The Board has satisfied itself and is of the opinion that the independent director(s) on the Board possess 
relevant expertise and experience, passed proficiency self-assessment test, if applicable, and are 
persons of integrity.  
 



 
 

 

 
 

Based on the written representations received from the directors as on March 31, 2025, none of the 
directors is disqualified as on March 31, 2025, from being appointed as a director in terms of Section 
164(2) of the Act. 
 
Key Managerial Personnel (“KMP”) 
 

• Mr. Pranav Saxena was appointed as Chief Product and Technology Officer of the Company and 
was designated as KMP in accordance with provision of Section 2(51)(v) of the Act with effect from 
May 15, 2024. 

 

• Mr. Yartharth Bhargova, tendered his resignation from the post of Chief Financial Officer with effect 
from September 30, 2024.  

 

• Mr. Pradyumna Maheshwari, was appointed as Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”) of the Company and 
was designated as KMP under Section 203 of the Act, with effect from January 14, 2025. Further he 
had tendered his resignation from the post of CFO with effect from June 01, 2025. 

 

• Mr. Hardik Dedhia (DIN: 06660799), Dr. Dhaval Shah (DIN: 07485688), Mr. Dharmil Sheth 
(DIN:06999772) and Mr. Harsh Parekh (DIN:06661731) ceased to be KMP with effect from January 
1, 2025. 

 

• Subsequent to the end of the financial year, Mr. Alok Kumar Jagnani was appointed as Group Chief 
Financial Officer of the Company and was designated as KMP under Section 203 of the Act, with 
effect from June 01, 2025.  
 

Company’s Policy on Directors’ Appointment and Remuneration including Criteria for 
Determining Qualifications, Positive Attributes and Independence of a Director 
 
The Company Policy on Remuneration of Directors, KMPs and other Employees of the Company is 
formulated to attract, retain and motivate members of the Board and other executives of the Company.  
 
The remuneration policy of the Company provides a well-balanced and performance-related 
compensation package to the members of the Board and senior management personnel of the 
Company, taking into account shareholder’s interests, industry standards and relevant rules and 
regulations. 
 
The said policy can be accessed at https://www.apiholdings.in/policies.  
 
The Company Policy on Evaluation of the Performance of the Board prescribe the criteria for assessing 
independence of independent directors and the same is also available on the Company’s website and 
can be accessed at https://www.apiholdings.in/policies.  
 
Performance Evaluation of Directors 
 
Annual performance evaluation of the Board and Committees of the Board, all individual directors 
including the Chairman of the Company, was carried out as per the criteria and process approved by 
Nomination and Remuneration Committee. 
 
The performance evaluation of the non-independent directors including the chairman of the Company 
and performance of the Board as a whole was discussed at the separate meeting of the independent 
directors. 
 
Directors’ Responsibility Statement 
 
Your directors state that: 
 
a. in the preparation of the annual accounts for the year ended March 31, 2025, the applicable 

accounting standards read with requirements set out under Schedule III to the Act, have been 
followed and there are no material departures from the same; 
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b. the directors have selected such accounting policies and applied them consistently and made 
judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent so as to give a true and fair view of the 
state of affairs of the Company as at March 31, 2025 and of the loss of the Company for the year 
ended on that date; 

 
c. the directors have taken proper and sufficient care for the maintenance of adequate accounting 

records in accordance with the provisions of the Act for safeguarding the assets of the Company 
and for preventing and detecting fraud and other irregularities; 

 
d. the directors have prepared the annual accounts on a ‘going concern’ basis; and 
 
e. the directors have devised proper systems to ensure compliance with provisions of all applicable 

laws and that such systems are adequate and operating effectively. 
 
(D) AUDITORS AND AUDITORS’ REPORT 
 
Statutory Auditor and Auditors’ Report 
 
Price Waterhouse Chartered Accountants LLP (having Firm’s registration Number: 
012754N/N500016), were appointed as statutory auditors of the Company for a term of five consecutive 
years, from the conclusion of the 2nd annual general meeting of the Company till the conclusion of the 
7th annual general meeting of the Company. 
 
The Auditor’s Reports on the standalone and consolidated financial statements of the Company for the 
financial year ended March 31, 2025, has been issued with an unmodified opinion, by the Statutory 
Auditors.  
 
There are no qualifications, reservations, adverse remarks, disclaimers, or emphasis of matter in the 
Auditor’s Reports. 
 
Secretarial Auditor and Secretarial Auditors’ Report 
 
Pursuant to provisions of Section 204 of the Act, the Board appointed M/s. Mehta & Mehta, Company 
Secretaries, (C.P. Number: 2486), as the secretarial auditors to conduct the Secretarial Audit for the 
financial year 2024-25. The secretarial audit report provided by M/s. Mehta & Mehta, Company 
Secretaries for the financial year 2024-25, in Form MR-3 as Annexure - II, forms part to this report.  
 
The said report does not contain any qualification, reservation, adverse remark or disclaimer.  
 
Risk Management 
 
The Company recognizes that effective risk management is critical to achieving sustainable growth and 
maintaining operational resilience. In line with this, the Company has adopted a comprehensive risk 
management policy to proactively identify, assess, and mitigate various internal and external risks 
associated with its operations. 
 
During the year under review, the Board, based on the recommendation of the audit committee, 
approved the constitution of a risk management committee (“RMC”) to further strengthen the 
governance framework. The RMC has been tasked with overseeing the risk management architecture 
of the Company and ensuring that identified risks are effectively monitored, mitigated, and aligned with 
the Company’s strategic goals. 
 
The Board had also approved the risk management policy which provides a structured approach to 
managing financial, operational, sectoral, sustainability (including ESG), cyber security, and other 
emerging risks. The Company remains committed to maintaining a robust risk management framework 
to ensure agility and resilience in the face of evolving business challenges. 
 
 
 
 



 
 

 

 
 

Vigil Mechanism and Whistle-Blower Policy 
 
In compliance with provisions of Section 177 of the Act, Company has adopted Vigil Mechanism and 
Whistle-blower Policy for Directors and Employees to report instances of unethical practices, illegal 
activities and/or actual or suspected fraud or violation of the Company’s code of conduct or ethics policy 
to the management of the Company. The mechanism provides for adequate safeguards against 
victimization of persons who use such mechanism and makes provision for direct access to the 
chairperson of the audit committee in appropriate cases. The said policy is posted on the website of the 
Company and can be accessed at https://www.apiholdings.in/policies. 
 
During the financial year under review, no employee or director was denied access to the chairperson 
of audit committee. 
 
Internal Financial Control systems and its adequacy 
 
The Company has in place adequate internal financial control with reference to the financial statements. 
During the year, such controls were tested and no reportable material weakness in the design or 
operation of such systems was observed. 
 
(E) Particulars of loans given, investments made, guarantees given, and securities provided 
  
Details of loans given, guarantees given and investments made, securities provided during the financial 
year under review along with the purpose for which the loans given, guarantees given and securities 
provided is proposed to be utilised by the recipient, are provided in the standalone financial statements 
of the Company for the financial year 2024-25 (Refer note nos.7 and 48 of standalone financial 
statements for the year ended March 31, 2025). 
 
(F) Particulars of contracts or arrangements with related parties 
 
All the transactions/contracts/arrangements of the nature as specified in Section 188(1) of the Act, 
entered by the Company during the financial year under review with related party(ies) are in the ordinary 
course of business and on arm’s length basis, except those for which requisite approvals have been 
obtained.  
 
The disclosure of particulars of contracts/arrangements entered by the Company with related parties 
referred to in Section 188 of the Act is attached as Annexure - III. 
  
Disclosures on related party transactions carried out during the financial year 2024-25, are provided in 
note 37 of standalone financial statements of the Company. 
 
The Company’s policy on Materiality of Related Party Transactions and Dealing with Related Party 
Transactions as approved by the Board can be accessed on the Company’s website at 
https://www.apiholdings.in/policies.  
 
(G)  Dividend 
 
Considering the loss incurred by the Company in the financial year 2024-25 and accumulated losses of 
the Company since its incorporation, your directors have not recommended any dividend for the 
financial year under review. 
 
(H) Deposits 
 
The Company has not accepted any deposit from the public during the year under review. 
 
(I) Corporate social responsibility (“CSR”) 
 
In terms of Section 135 of the Act and rules made thereunder, for the financial year 2024-25, the 
Company was not eligible to mandatorily spend any amount to undertake any CSR activity as 
mentioned in schedule VII of the Act.  
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The Company has constituted a CSR committee as per the provisions of Section 135(1) of the Act. The 
Board approved the policy on Corporate Social Responsibility as formulated and recommended by the 
CSR Committee. The Policy encapsulates the major areas of concern which the Company would like 
to focus on while undertaking its CSR activities. The said policy can be accessed at 
https://www.apiholdings.in/policies.  
 
(J) Particulars of remuneration to employees 
 
Any shareholder interested in obtaining information on details of employees’ remuneration as required 
under the provisions of Section 197 of the Act and rules 5(2) and 5(3) of the Companies (Appointment 
and Remuneration of Managerial Personnel) Rules, 2014, may separately reach out to the Company. 
 
(K) Employees’ Stock Option Scheme 
 
During the financial year under review, the Company had granted employee stock options (“ESOPs”) 
to the employees of the Company and to the employees of its subsidiaries under API Employee Stock 
Option Scheme 2020 (“ESOP Scheme 2020”). The disclosures under rule 12(9) of the Companies 
(Share Capital and Debentures) Rules, 2014 are as under: 
  

Sr. 
No. 

Particulars  ESOP Scheme 2020 

a. Options Granted : 1,99,16,36,301 (Total ESOPs granted till FY25) 
95,43,02,691 ESOPs were granted during 
financial year 2024-25. 

b. Options vested during the year : 41,45,45,765  

c.  Options exercised during the year : 1,13,03,433 

d.  Total number of shares arising as a result 
of exercise of options 

: 7,79,37,629  

e.  Options lapsed/ surrendered : 3,30,74,920 ESOPs were lapsed / surrendered 
during the financial year 2024-25  

f.   Exercise price : Exercise price of ESOPs is as per requisite 
approvals and as communicated to employees 
in their respective grant letters 

g. Variation of terms of options : Vesting terms for 31,17,68,855 number of 
ESOPs were varied during FY 25 such that the 
variation was not prejudicial to the interest of the 
employees.  

h.  Money realized on exercise of options : INR 4,71,53,784.46 

i.    Total number of options in force : 1,69,25,38,585 ESOPs were outstanding as on 
March 31, 2025  

j.    Employee wise details of options granted 
to: 

   

(i) Key managerial personnel / Senior 
Management Personnel 

: Name  No. of ESOPs granted 

Siddharth Shah 9,00,00,000 

Rahul Guha 8,18,75,000 

Pranav Saxena 5,00,00,000 
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Sr. 
No. 

Particulars  ESOP Scheme 2020 

Dhaval Shah# 4,50,00,000 

Dharmil Sheth#   4,50,00,000 

Harsh Parekh# 4,50,00,000 

Hardik Dedhia#   4,50,00,000 

Akarsh Bharadwaj   3,50,00,000 

Savita Sharma   3,50,00,000 

Drashti Shah   1,68,75,000 

Uday Patel Kadam  1,75,00,000 

 Pradyumna 
Maheshwari* 

2,10,93,750 

(ii) Any other employee to whom options 
granted during the financial year 2024-25 
amounted to five percent or more of total 
options granted during the said financial 
year 

: The employees to whom options granted during 
financial year 2024-25 amounted to five percent 
or more of the total ESOPs granted during the 
financial year 2024-25: 

Name No. of options granted  

Siddharth Shah 9,00,00,000 

Rahul Guha 8,18,75,000 

Pranav Saxena 5,00,00,000 
 

(iii) Identified employees who were granted 
option, during any one year, equal to or 
exceeding one percent of the issued capital 
(excluding outstanding warrants and 
conversions) of the Company at the time of 
grant 

: Nil 

* Mr. Pradyumna Maheshwari, was appointed as Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”) of the Company and 
was designated as KMP under Section 203 of the Act, with effect from January 14, 2025. Further he 
had tendered his resignation from the post of CFO with effect from June 01, 2025, and hence all his 
ESOPs got lapsed on his cessation of employment. 
# Mr. Hardik Dedhia, Dr. Dhaval Shah, Mr. Dharmil Sheth and Mr. Harsh Parekh ceased to be KMP with 
effect from January 1, 2025. 
 
(L) Disclosure under the Sexual Harassment of Women at Workplace (Prevention, Prohibition 

and Redressal) Act, 2013 
 
Your Company has a policy and framework for employees to report sexual harassment cases at 
workplace and the process ensures complete anonymity and confidentiality of information. The 
Company has complied with provisions relating to the constitution of Internal Complaints Committee 
under the Sexual Harassment of Women at Workplace (Prevention, Prohibition and Redressal) Act, 
2013. Training and awareness programs are conducted at various locations of the Company to sensitize 
the workforce of the Company towards creating conducive and respectable environment for the 
workforce.  
 
During the financial year under review, no case was reported in the Company pursuant to the Sexual 
Harassment of Women at Workplace (Prevention, Prohibition and Redressal) Act, 2013. 
 
(a) Number of complaints of sexual harassment received in the year - Nil; 



 
 

 

 
 

(b) Number of complaints disposed off during the year – Not applicable; and 
(c) number of cases pending for more than ninety days – Not Applicable.  
 
 
Maternity Benefit 
 
The Company has materially complied with the provisions of the Maternity Benefit Act, 1961, as 
amended from time to time. The Company provides maternity leave and benefits to its women 
employees in accordance with the applicable law. The Company also supports a conducive working 
environment for women and ensures their well-being during maternity and childcare periods, including 
availability of nursing breaks and other statutory entitlements. 
 
(M) Meetings of the Board of Directors, constitution, and meetings of the committees    
 
During the financial year under review, 6 (Six) meetings of the board of directors of the Company were 
held and the gap between two meetings did not exceed one hundred and twenty days as per the 
requirement of the Act. The necessary quorum was present during all such meetings.  
 
Committees 
 
In order to adhere to the best corporate governance practices, to effectively discharge its functions and 
responsibilities and in compliance with the requirements of applicable laws, your Board has constituted 
several committees of the Board including the following: 
 
a. Audit Committee 
b. Nomination and Remuneration Committee 
c. Stakeholders’ Relationship Committee 
d. Corporate Social Responsibility Committee 
 
(a)   Audit Committee 
 
During the financial year under review, the audit committee met 5 (five) times. The composition of the 
audit committee along with the details of the meetings held and attendance of the members of the audit 
committee during the financial year 2024-25 is detailed below: 
 

Sr. 
No. 

Name of the Director Director category Nature of 
membership 

No. of 
meetings 
held$ 

No. of 
meetings 
attended 

1.  Mr. Subramaniam 
Somasundaram 

Independent Director Chairperson 5 5 

2.  Mr. Deepak Vaidya Independent Director Member 5 5 

3.  Mr. Harsh Parekh* Whole-time Director Member 1 0 

4.  Mr. Shyam Powar# Non-Executive 
Director 

Member 4 3 

5.  Mrs. Vineeta Rai# Independent Director Member 4 4 

* Mr. Harsh Parekh ceased to be member of the audit committee with effect from May 15, 2024, 
pursuant to his resignation as Whole-time Director of the Company.  
# Mr. Shyam Powar and Mrs. Vineeta Rai were appointed as members of audit committee, with effect 
from May 15, 2024. 
$ Represents the number of meetings the respective audit committee members were entitled to attend.  
 
(b)   Nomination and Remuneration Committee 
 
During the financial year under review, the nomination and remuneration committee (“NRC”) met 4 
(four) times. The composition of the committee along with the details of the meetings held and 
attendance of the members of the NRC during the financial year 2024-25 is detailed below: 
 

Sr. 
No. 

Name of the Director Director category Nature of 
membership 

No. of 
meetings 
held$  

No. of 
meetings 
attended 



 
 

 

 
 

1.  Mr. Deepak Vaidya Independent Director Chairperson 4 4 

2.  Dr. Jaydeep Tank Independent Director Member 4 2 

3.  Mr. Ankur Thadani Non-Executive 
Director 

Member 4 1 

4.  Dr. Ranjan Pai* Non-Executive 
Director 

Member 3 2 

* Dr. Ranjan Pai was appointed as member of NRC, with effect from May 15, 2024. 
$ Represents the number of meetings the respective NRC members were entitled to attend 
 
(c)   Stakeholders’ Relationship Committee 
 
The composition of the Stakeholders’ Relationship Committee is detailed below: 
 

Sr. 
No. 

Name of the Director Director category Nature of 
membership 

1.  Mr. Ankur Thadani Non-executive Director Chairperson 

2.  Mrs. Vineeta Rai Independent Director Member 

3.  Mr. Ashutosh Sharma Non-executive Director Member 

4.  Mr. Dharmil Sheth* Whole-time Director Member 

5.  Dr. Dhaval Shah# Whole-time Director Member 

* Mr. Dharmil Sheth ceased to be member of the Stakeholders’ Relationship Committee with effect from 
May 15, 2024, pursuant to his resignation as Whole-time Director of the Company.  
# Dr. Dhaval Shah, Whole-time Director was appointed as member of Stakeholders’ Relationship 
Committee, effective May 15, 2024. 
 
No meeting of the Stakeholders’ Relationship Committee was held during the year. 
 
(d)   Corporate Social Responsibility Committee 
 
The composition of the Corporate Social Responsibility (“CSR”) Committee is detailed below: 
 

Sr. 
No. 

Name of the Director Director category Nature of 
membership 

1.  Mrs. Vineeta Rai  Independent Director Chairperson 

2.  Dr. Jaydeep Tank Independent Director Member 

3.  Mr. Ankur Thadani Non-executive Director Member 

4.  Mr. Siddharth Shah Managing Director and Chief Executive 
Officer 

Member 

 
No meeting of the CSR Committee was held during the year. 
 
(N) Secretarial Standards 
 
The Company has complied with the provisions of the applicable secretarial standards as amended 
from time to time. 
 
(O) Compliance with Foreign Exchange Management Regulations 
 
The Company has received certificate from Price Waterhouse Chartered Accountants LLP, Statutory 
Auditors of the Company for the downstream investments made by the Company during the financial 
year 2024-25, in compliance with the requirements of the Foreign Exchange Management (Non-debt 
Instruments) Rules, 2019. 
 
(P) Annual Return  
 
Annual Return of the Company as on March 31, 2025 in accordance with the provision of Section 92(3) 
read with the Section 134(3)(a) of the Act will be placed on the website on the Company at 
https://www.apiholdings.in/ 
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(Q) Change in nature of business 
 
There is no change in the nature of business of the Company during the year under review.  
 
 
(R) Shifting of Registered office of the Company 
 
During the financial year under review, the Company had shifted its registered office within the local 
limits of the Mumbai city. 
 
(S) Energy conservation, technology absorption and foreign exchange earnings and outgo 
 
The particulars of Energy Conservation, Technology Absorption, Foreign Exchange Earnings and 
Outgo, as required to be disclosed under the Act and the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014, are as 
follows: 
 
1. Conservation of Energy 
 

a. Steps taken for conservation of energy:  The provisions of the Companies (Accounts) Rules, 
2014 regarding conservation of energy are not applicable to the Company due to the nature of 
business being carried out by the Company. However, the Group is committed to carry out 
every effort to ensure that energy efficient measures are taken as far as possible to reduce its 
carbon footprint. The Company, through its group companies has been taking initiatives for 
energy conservation across the organization. 
 
Energy Conservation Initiatives 
 
Awareness Programs - Regular awareness sessions are conducted across all warehouses to 
educate staff on energy-saving practices. These include informative lectures and visual posters 
aimed at promoting responsible energy usage. 

 
Regular Maintenance of all electrical equipment including regular filter cleaning of Acs used in 
WHs to ensure optimum efficiency. Energy efficiency is also enhanced through thermal 
insulation and the installation of centralized HVAC systems, ensuring optimal air conditioning 
usage while minimizing energy waste. 

 
b. Steps taken by the Company for utilising alternate sources of energy: The Company 

through its subsidiary companies has initiated the process of adopting solar power as a source 
for alternate energy. Currently, the Company plans to install 90 kWh solar power capacity plant 
at Aryan warehouse at Gurugram, 25 kWh at Coimbatore and 130 kWh at Bangalore 
Warehouse. Company had also installed another solar power plant at our warehouse at 
Bhandup having capacity of 300 kWh which generated 13,41,580 kWh of solar power which is 
equivalent to mitigating approx. 11,00,000 kgs of carbon dioxide into the atmosphere. 

 
2. Technology Absorption 

    
a. Major efforts made towards technology absorption and the benefits derived like product 

improvement, cost reduction, product development or import substitution: 
 
API Holdings is a technology-first organization. Technology led innovations are deployed to 
offer differentiated experience to our customers, build efficient supply chain, manage large 
scale health ecosystems (partners, stakeholders, marketplace etc.) and improve productivity 
across eco-system. 
 
We have been using AI/ML/Data Science to improve almost every part of our business; 
e.g. AI based recommendation in pharma business to improves shopping experience, 
forecasting & replenishment to optimize our inventory across the network to name a few. 
 
Our products are highly intuitive, engaging and user- friendly, we have deployed various 
technologies to make it happen - Pharmeasy app & Rio App/Salesman app etc. 



 
 

 

 
 

 
Below are a few of our initiatives which have been taken in the past years driving innovation 
and technology adoption. 
 
Teleconsulting on Pharmeasy App: Patients across India can access cost effective, good 
quality doctors consulting on their phone. Patient also get one follow free post the consulting.  
 
Assisted Commerce:  India has over 535 million WhatsApp users, and the platform has 
increasingly been leveraged by customers to place medicine orders with offline pharmacies. To 
replicate the convenience of an offline-like experience while retaining the advantages of e-
commerce, PharmEasy has introduced health services marketing through WhatsApp enabled 
by Pharmeasy AI agents (order placement Journey). This initiative enables users to order their 
healthcare services seamlessly using WhatsApp which orders is processed in Pharmeasy 
system by the retailers listed on the platform.  
AI transformation: AI powered systems can not only improve customer experience, care 
quality but also improve productivity of the organisation. At API level, we successfully 
modernized the data platform with GCP. We have democratized access to AI tools to all our 
tech teams. GCP implementation also helped us save ~30% of monthly data cost. 
 
Co-branded Quick Commerce:  Customers can now purchase medicines within 10 minutes 
on Swiggy, powered by PharmEasy. Under this collaboration, PharmEasy has build technical 
platform for quick commerce which offers the critical capabilities required for the dispensation 
of medicines, including catalogue, fulfilment, teleconsultation etc.  
 
Warehouse operations optimisation: We launched various tools and features to optimise 
put-away and picking processes in the warehouse. We improvised forecasting algorithms for 
B2B to reduce variation for better forecasting and fill rate.  
Rio App: Improved recommendation to improve crossell, enhanced cleveratap to improve 
conversion of marketing by efficient targeting, and enhanced transparency in the overall order 
-Pay funnel. 
 
Thyrocare: Enhanced Thrynext platform to increase cross-sell, increase visibility of profitable 
test and setting milestone-based achievement (incentive ladder) for franchise. 

 
b. Information regarding imported technology (Imported during the last three years): The 

Company has imported following technologies: 
- Crowdstrike Cybersecurity solution 
- We have built inhouse real time analytics engine and replaced ISMA  
- Algolia -Search in B2B 
-  

c. Expenditure incurred on research and development:  Nil 
 

3. Foreign Exchange Earnings and Outgo:  
 

Particulars Financial year 
2023-24 
(INR In million) 

Financial year 
2024-25  
(INR In million) 

Foreign Exchange earned in terms of actual inflows Nil Nil 

Foreign Exchange used in terms of actual outflows 2.04 2.79 

 
GENERAL 
 
Your directors state that no disclosure or reporting is required in respect of the following items as there 
were no transactions or events pertaining to these items during the financial year under review: 
 

1. Issue of equity shares with differential rights as to dividend, voting or otherwise. 
2. There were no significant or material orders passed by the Regulators or Courts or Tribunals 

which impact the going concern status of the Company. 
3. Maintenance of cost records as specified by the Central Government under sub-section (1) of 

Section 148 of the Act. 



 
 

 

 
 

4. During the year under review, none of the Auditors have reported any instance of fraud 
committed against the Company by its officers or employees, details of which need to be 
mentioned under the provisions of Section 143(12) of the Act.    

5. Since the Company has suffered losses, no amount has been transferred to the reserves 
account. 

6. There were no one time settlement for loan from banks or financial institutions. 
7. There were no funds required to be transferred to the Investor Education and Protection Fund. 
8. There is no admission made or proceedings pending against any admission under the 

Insolvency and Bankruptcy Code, 2016 against the Company during the financial year 2024-
25. 

9. The provisions of Section 197(14) of the Act, in relation to disclosure of remuneration or 
commission received by a managing or whole-time director from the Company’s holding or 
subsidiary company are not applicable. 

10. The maintenance of cost records as prescribed by the Central Government under Section 
148(1) of the Act, is not applicable to the Company for the financial year under review. 

 
ACKNOWLEDGEMENT 
 
Your directors would like to express their sincere appreciation for the assistance and co-operation 
received from the investors, banks, lenders, government and any regulatory authorities, customers, 
vendors, employees and members during the financial year under review. 
 
 
 

 For and on behalf of the Board of Directors 
  

 
 
Sd/- 

 
 
 

Sd/- 

Siddharth Shah Dhaval Shah 
Place: Mumbai Managing Director and Chief 

Executive Officer  
Whole-time Director 

Date: August 8, 2025 DIN: 05186193 DIN: 07485688 
 Address: 701/702 B Wing, Kailash 

Tower, Vallabh Baug Lane, 
Ghatkopar (East), Mumbai 400 075 
 

Address: 1001, Plot No. 141A, 
Bhaghban building, Vallabh Baug 
Lane, Opposite Paras Dham, 
Ghatkopar (East), Mumbai – 400 
077 

 



Name of the Company

1. Number of subsidiaries

Sr. No. 1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8

CIN/ any other registration number of

 subsidiary company U74990MH2019PTC325721

U72900MH2019PTC

327097 U74999MH2019PTC320524

U72900MH2016PTC

443000

U74999MH2017PTC44

1194

U74999MH2019PTC

325869

U51909HR2017PTC0

71447

U51103MH2016PTC

442989

Name of the Subsidiary AHWSPL India Private 

Limited

Aycon Graph 

Connect Private 

Limited

Threpsi Solutions Private 

Limited

Docon 

Technologies 

Private Limited

Ayro Retail Solutions 

Private Limited

Ascent Wellness 

and Pharma 

Solutions Private 

Limited

Aryan Wellness 

Private Limited

Mahaveer Medi-

Sales Private 

Limited

The date since when subsidiary was acquired 23 May 2019 21 June 2019 27 August 2020 27 Augiust 2020 27 Augiust 2020 27 May 2019 27 Augiust 2020 27 August 2020

Provisions pursuant to which the company has become a 

subsidiary  (Section 2(87)(i)/Section 2(87)(ii))

Reporting period for the subsidiary concerned, if different from the 

holding company’s reporting period.

Reporting currency and Exchange rate as on the last date of the 

relevant Financial year in the case of foreign subsidiaries.

Share capital 0.10 0.10 18.86 142.53 0.10 0.10 0.10 4.00 

Compulsory convertible debentures -   1,086.07 3,505.88 1,329.14 -   2,224.69 300.00 -   

Compulsory convertible preference shares -                                 -   -                                 -   -                                 -   -                                 -   

Reserves and surplus 2,157.19 -1,494.08 -37,594.74 24,550.23 -2,063.94 -8,041.69 -578.88 1,085.44 

Total assets 2,159.50 27.94 2,507.99 28,453.59 110.94 12,124.33 1,318.62 2,533.50 

Total Liabilities (Excluding share capital and reserves and surplus 2.21 435.85 36,577.99 2,431.69 2,174.78 17,941.23 1,597.40 

1,444.06 

Investments (Carrying value) 2,147.26 -   58.46 25,626.98 8.71 2,668.79 -                                 -   

Turnover 23.05 37.00 6,496.55 1,236.69 41.72 12,917.33 2,892.67 10,437.47 

Profit/(Loss) before taxation -1,300.69 175.40 -5,519.52 3,112.74 -277.48 -2,470.07 -267.43 110.07 

Provision for taxation 0.04 9.05 -   61.53 -                                 -   0.87 58.32 

Profit (Loss) after taxation -1,300.73 166.35 -5,519.52 3,051.21 -277.48 -2,470.07 -268.30 51.75 

Proposed Dividend -                                 -   -                                 -   -                                 -   -                                 -   

Extent of shareholding (in percentage) at the end of financial year 

2024-25

100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 85%

31

Annexure-I to the Directors' Report

Form AOC-1

(Pursuant to first proviso to sub-section (3) of section 129 read with rule 5 of Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014)

Statement containing salient features of the financial statement of subsidiaries or associate companies or joint ventures

Part A Subsidiaries

API HOLDINGS LIMITED

(INR in Millions unless otherwise stated)

Section 2(87)(ii) of the Companies Act, 2013

Same as the Holding Company’s reporting period,

viz. April 01, 2024 to March 31, 2025

Not applicable



Sr. No. 9 10 11 12 13 14 15 16

CIN/ any other registration number of

 subsidiary company

U24304KA2017PTC106747 U74999DL2016PTC3

04376

U74999MH2013PTC247908 U24304KA2017PTC1

06747

U51909MH2016PTC44

9216

U85120MH1999PTC

449218

U51109MH2016PTC4

49215

U51909MH2009PTC

449217

Name of the Subsidiary AKP Healthcare Private 

Limited

D. C. Agencies 

Private Limited

Desai Pharma Distributors 

Private Limited

Eastern Agencies 

Healthcare Private 

Limited

Muthu Pharma Private 

Limited

Pearl Medicals 

Private Limited

Rau and Co Pharma 

Private Limited

Shell 

Pharmaceuticals 

Private Limited

The date since when subsidiary was acquired 27 August 2020 27 August 2020 27 August 2020 27 August 2020 27 August 2020 27 August 2020 27 August 2020 27 August 2020

Provisions pursuant to which the company has become a 

subsidiary  (Section 2(87)(i)/Section 2(87)(ii))

Reporting period for the subsidiary concerned, if different from the 

holding company’s reporting period.

Reporting currency and Exchange rate as on the last date of the 

relevant Financial year in the case of foreign subsidiaries.

Share capital                                       0.20                           0.10                                      55.50                        117.50                               2.50                            0.10                             1.00                            0.90 

Compulsory convertible debentures                                           -                      1,002.62                                    143.65                        645.85                                  -                                 -                                   -                                 -   

Compulsory convertible preference shares                                           -                                 -                                              -                                 -                                    -                                 -                                   -                                 -   

Reserves and surplus                                   279.13                   -1,065.95                                   -120.06                      -614.03                         -628.98                          46.53                           94.24                          27.63 

Total assets                                   749.45                       985.89                                      79.12                     1,458.96                           259.23                          46.67                           95.28                          28.57 

Total Liabilities (Excluding share capital and reserves and surplus

                                  470.12                    1,049.12                                        0.03                     1,309.64                           885.71                            0.04                             0.04                            0.04 

Investments (Carrying value)                                           -                                 -                                              -                                 -                                    -                                 -                                   -                                 -   

Turnover                                2,785.93                    2,426.25                                            -                       3,241.98                                  -                                 -                                   -                                 -   

Profit/(Loss) before taxation                                     53.68                      -216.75                                        4.34                      -202.93                           -88.79                          -0.10                            -0.09                          -0.90 

Provision for taxation                                     13.89                               -                                              -                                 -                                    -                                 -                                   -                                 -   

Profit (Loss) after taxation                                     39.79                      -216.75                                        4.34                      -202.93                           -88.79                          -0.10                            -0.09                          -0.90 

Proposed Dividend                                           -                                 -                                              -                                 -                                    -                                 -                                   -                                 -   

Extent of shareholding (in percentage) at the end of financial year 

2024-25

51% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

Sr. No. 17 18 19 20 21 22 23 24

CIN/ any other registration number of

 subsidiary company U51101MH2015PTC270083

	U24304KA2017PT

C106716

	U24290KA2018PTC11941

3

U51909MH2018PTC

402763

U74999MH2018PTC43

7764

U33110DL2014PTC2

68297

U52310MH2006PTC1

59945

U85110KA1997PTC0

22000

Name of the Subsidiary Dial Health Drug Supplies 

Private Limited

Venkatesh Medico 

Private Limited

Aushad Pharma 

Distributors Private 

Limited

Avighna Medicare 

Private Limited

Akna Medical Private 

Limited

Allumer Medical 

Private Limited

Shreeji Distributors 

Pharma Private 

Limited

Vardhman Health 

Specialities Private 

Limited

The date since when subsidiary was acquired 27 August 2020 27 August 2020 27 August 2020 15 January 2021 17 September 2021 17 September 2021 17 September 2021 17 September 2021

Provisions pursuant to which the company has become a 

subsidiary  (Section 2(87)(i)/Section 2(87)(ii))

Reporting period for the subsidiary concerned, if different from the 

holding company’s reporting period.

Reporting currency and Exchange rate as on the last date of the 

relevant Financial year in the case of foreign subsidiaries.

Share capital                                       0.10                           0.10                                        2.04                            0.10                             33.52                          99.21                             1.00                          55.50 

Compulsory convertible debentures                                           -                                 -                                              -                                 -                                    -                                 -                                   -                                 -   

Compulsory convertible preference shares                                           -                                 -                                              -                                 -                                    -                                 -                                   -                                 -   

Reserves and surplus                                  -212.84                      -146.01                                    254.51                      -335.38                      -3,713.51                      -184.01                        -477.95                      -852.23 

Total assets                                       0.24                       311.01                                    445.21                        379.18                           663.27                            6.07                         602.28                     2,708.40 

Total Liabilities (Excluding share capital and reserves and surplus

                                  212.98                       456.92                                    188.66                        714.46                        4,343.26                          90.87                      1,079.23                     3,505.13 

Investments (Carrying value)  -                               -                                              -                                 -    -  -  -  - 

Turnover                                           -                         780.82                                 1,138.32                        547.09                           661.10  -                      2,136.71                     6,218.41 

Profit/(Loss) before taxation                                    -15.61                        -56.18                                      31.67                      -137.23                      -3,321.69                          -7.23                        -152.23                      -522.45 

Provision for taxation                               -                                          8.47                               -    -  -                            0.01 

Profit (Loss) after taxation                                    -15.61                        -56.18                                      23.20                      -137.23                      -3,321.69                          -7.23                        -152.23                      -522.46 

Proposed Dividend  -                               -                                              -                                 -    -  -  -  - 

Extent of shareholding (in percentage) at the end of financial year 

2024-25 100% 51% 60% 100% 100% 100% 100% 100%

Section 2(87)(ii) of the Companies Act, 2013

Same as the Holding Company’s reporting period,

viz. April 01, 2024 to March 31, 2025

Not applicable

Section 2(87)(ii) of the Companies Act, 2013

Same as the Holding Company’s reporting period,

viz. April 01, 2024 to March 31, 2025

Not applicable



Sr. No. 25 26 27 28 29 30 31
CIN/ any other registration number of
 subsidiary company

U51909KA2021PTC148214
L85110MH2000PLC

123882
U74120MH2011PLC212839 U85100MH2021PTC

371921 ABC-1246
U85300TZ2022PTC

039112
U72900KA2021PTC1

47222
Name of the Subsidiary Supplythis Technologies 

Private Limited
Thyrocare 

Technologies 
Limited

Nueclear Healthcare 
Limited

Care Easy Health 
Tech Private 

Limited

Pulse Hitech Health 
Services (Ghatkopar) 

LLP

Think Health 
Diagnostic Private

 Limited

Healthchain Private 
Limited*

The date since when subsidiary was acquired 17 September 2021 02 September 2021 02 September 2021 22 November 2021 24 November
 2022

27 February 2024 27 February 2024

Provisions pursuant to which the company has become a 
subsidiary
 (Section 2(87)(i)/Section 2(87)(ii))
Reporting period for the subsidiary concerned, if different from 
the holding company’s reporting period.
Reporting currency and Exchange rate as on the last date of 
the relevant Financial year in the case of foreign subsidiaries.

Share capital                                    0.10                      529.93                                 111.11                          0.10                           50.00                        11.78                           0.02 
Compulsory convertible debentures                                        -                               -                                           -                               -                                  -                               -                                 -  
Compulsory convertible preference shares                             -                                           -                               -                                  -                               -                                 -  
Reserves and surplus                               -155.52                   4,841.14                                 645.79                     -691.56                         -44.14                       -36.90                               -  
Total assets                                    4.36                   6,763.55                                 858.13                        16.66                           85.50                          5.04                               -  
Total Liabilities (Excluding share capital and reserves and 
surplus                                 159.78                   1,392.46                                 101.18                      708.12                           79.56                        30.15                               -  
Investments (Carrying value)  -                   1,039.67                                 333.97                             -                                  -                               -                                 -  
Turnover                                    4.01                   6,331.05                                 475.91                             -                             67.03                          8.32                               -  
Profit/(Loss) before taxation                                 -12.62                   1,512.14                                    -4.05                       -71.35                         -18.23                       -20.28                          -0.02 
Provision for taxation  -                      554.26                                         -                               -                                  -                               -                                 -  
Profit (Loss) after taxation                                 -12.62                      957.84                                     0.55                       -71.35                         -15.50                       -20.28                          -0.02 
Proposed Dividend  -                   1,112.86                                         -                               -                                  -                               -                                 -  
Extent of shareholding (in percentage) at the end of financial 
year 2024-25

100% 71.06% 100% 100% 51% 100% 70%

2. Number of subsidiaries which are yet to commence 
operations

3 Number of subsidiaries which have been liquidated or have 
ceased to be a subsidiary during the year.

SI. No.
1

CIN /any other registration number
U74999MH2018PTC308208

Names of subsidiaries
Reenav Pharma Private Limited

1

Nil

* Healthchain Private Limited (CIN: U72900KA2021PTC147222), a step-down subsidiary of the Company, had no assets or liabilities and filed an application for voluntary strike-off with the Ministry of Corporate 
Affairs on February 11, 2025. The strike-off process was completed on April 29, 2025, and accordingly, Healthchain ceased to be a step-down subsidiary of the Company.

Section 2(87)(ii) of the Companies Act, 2013

Same as Holding Company

Not applicable



4 Number of Associate / Joint Venture

Sr. No. 1 2 3

1. Name of the Associates/Joint Ventures

Equinox Labs Private 

Limited

Impex Healthcare 

Private

 Limited

Thyrocare Laboratories 

(Tanzania) Limited

2. Latest audited Balance Sheet Date 31 March 2025 31 March 2025 31 March 2025

3. Date on which the Associate or Joint Venture was associated

or acquired 2 September 2021 17 September 2021 19 September 2023

4. Shares of Associate or Joint Ventures held by the company

on the year end

A. No. 4,29,186 6,50,000 95,630 

B. Amount of Investment in Associates or Joint Venture 200.00 214.07 31.19 

C. Extent of Holding % 30.00 26.00 50.00 

5. Description of how there is significant influence

6. Reason why the associate/Joint venture is not consolidated.

7. Net worth attributable to shareholding as per latest audited

Balance Sheet

105.7 - 10.4

8. Profit or Loss for the year 33.60 48.99 

A. Considered in Consolidation 10.08  - 24.50 

B. Not Considered in Consolidation 23.52  - 24.50 

5. Number of associates or joint ventures which are yet to

commence operations

6. Number of associates or joint ventures which have been

liquidated or have ceased to be associate or joint venture

during the year

SI. No. Names of Associates and 

Joint Ventures

1 Marg ERP Limited

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of

API Holdings Limited

Sd/- Sd/-

Siddharth Shah Dhaval Shah

(Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer) (Whole-time Director)

DIN: 05186193 DIN: 07485688

Address: B-701/702, Kailas Towers CHSL, Plot No. 355 R.N. 

Narkar Marg 60 Ft Road, Ghatkopar (East) Mumbai 400075

Sd/- Sd/-

Alok Kumar Jagnani Drashti Shah

(Group Chief Financial Officer) (Company Secretary and Chief Compliance Officer)

ICAI Membership No. A063791 Membership No. ACS22968

Address: Regency heights, monarch 1802, Bharmaand, Azad 

Nagar Circle, Thane, Maharashtra - 400607

Address: B/10, Ranjit Society, S.N Road,  Mulund (West),Mumbai – 400080

Place: Mumbai

Date: August 8, 2025

Address: 1001, Plot No. 141A, Bhaghban building, Vallabh Baug Lane,

 Opposite Paras Dham, Ghatkopar (East), 

Mumbai – 400 077

By holding more than 20%

Not Applicable

(INR in Millions unless otherwise stated)

CIN /any other registration number

(Pursuant to first proviso to sub-section (3) of section 129 read with rule 5 of Companies (Accounts) Rules, 2014)

Statement containing salient features of the financial statement of subsidiaries or associate companies or joint ventures

1

Nil

3

Annexure-I to the Board's Report

The above statement also indicates performance and financial position of each of the subsidiaries and associates

Form AOC-1

Part B: Associates and Joint Ventures

U72200DL2000PLC108674



Annexure - II















Annexure - III

Name of the Company API Holdings Limited

*Number of Contracts or arrangements or transactions not at arm's length basis -

Corporate identity number (CIN) or foreign company -

Name(s) of the related party -

Nature of relationship -

Nature of contracts/ arrangements/ transactions -

Duration of the contracts / arrangements/ transactions -

Salient terms of the contracts or arrangements or transactions -

including actual / expected contractual amount -

Justification for entering into such contracts or arrangements or transactions -

Date of approval by the Board (DD/MM/YYYY) -

Amount paid as advances, if any -

Date on which the resolution was passed in general meeting as required under first proviso to 

section 188 (DD/MM/YYYY) -

*Number of Contracts or arrangements or transactions at arm's length basis 1

(1)

Corporate identity number (CIN) or foreign company or registration number (FCRN) or Limited 

Liability Partnership number (LLPIN) or Foreign Limited Liability Partnership number (FLLPIN) 

or Permanent Account Number (PAN)/Passport for individuals or any other registration number

U74999MH2019PTC325869

Name(s) of the related party Ascent Wellness and Pharma Solutions Private Limited

Nature of relationship Step down subsidiary

Nature of contracts/ arrangements/ transactions Sale of goods (net of returns)

Duration of the contracts / arrangements/ transactions Recurring

Salient terms of the contracts or arrangements or transactions including actual /expected 

contractual amount

Purchase of goods amounting to INR 70,59,11,640.23

Date of approval by the Board Audit Committee Omnibus Approval - May 15, 2024

Amount paid as advances, if any NA

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors API Holdings Limited

Sd/- Sd/-

Siddharth Shah Dhaval Shah

Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer Whole-time Director

DIN: 05186193 DIN: 07485688

Address: 701/702 B Wing, Kailash Address: 1001, Plot No. 141A, Bhaghban Building

Tower, Vallabh Baug Lane, Ghatkopar East Vallabh Baug Lane, Opposite Paras Dham

Mumbai 400 075 Ghatkopar East, Mumbai- 400077

Date: August 08, 2025

Place: Mumbai

Form AOC-2 (Details of material contracts or arrangements or transactions at arm's length basis)

2.Details of material contracts or arrangements or transactions at arm's length basis

1.Details of contracts or arrangements or transactions not at arm's length basis



Price Waterhouse Chartered Accountants LLP

Price Waterhouse Chartered Accountants LLP, 252, Veer Savarkar Marg, Shivaji Park, Dadar (West) Mumbai - 400 028
T: +91 (22) 66697510

Registered office and Head office: 11A Vishnu Digambar Marg, Sucheta Bhawan, New Delhi - 110002

Price Waterhouse (a Partnership Firm) converted into Price Waterhouse Chartered Accountants LLP (a Limited Liability Partnership with LLP identity no: 
LLPIN AAC-5001) with effect from July 25, 2014. Post its Conversion to Price Waterhouse Chartered Accountants LLP, its ICAI registration number is 
012754N/N500016 (ICAI registration number before conversion was 012754N)

Independent Auditor’s Report 

To the Members of API Holdings Limited

Report on the Audit of the Standalone Financial Statements 

Opinion 

1. We have audited the accompanying Standalone financial statements of API Holdings Limited 
(“the Company”), which comprise the Standalone Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2025, and the 
Standalone Statement of Profit and Loss (including Other Comprehensive Loss), the 
Standalone Statement of Changes in Equity and the Standalone Statement of Cash Flows for 
the year then ended, and notes to the standalone financial statements, including material 
accounting policy information and other explanatory information.

2. In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to 
us, the aforesaid standalone financial statements give the information required by the 
Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act") in the manner so required and give a true and fair view in 
conformity with the accounting principles generally accepted in India, of the state of affairs of 
the Company as at March 31, 2025, and total comprehensive loss (comprising of loss and other 
comprehensive loss), changes in equity and its cash flows for the year then ended.

Basis for Opinion

3. We conducted our audit in accordance with the Standards on Auditing (SAs) specified under 
Section 143(10) of the Act. Our responsibilities under those Standards are further described 
in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Standalone Financial Statements” 
section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the Code of 
Ethics issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India together with the ethical 
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the standalone financial statements under the 
provisions of the Act and the Rules thereunder, and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements and the Code of Ethics. We believe that 
the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion.

Other Information

4. The Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for the other information. The other 
information comprises the information included in the Directors’ report, but does not include 
the standalone financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. 

Our opinion on the standalone financial statements does not cover the other information and 
we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the standalone financial statements, our responsibility is to 
read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is 
materially inconsistent with the standalone financial statements or our knowledge obtained 
in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement 
of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this 
regard.
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Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the 
Standalone Financial Statements

5. The Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for the matters stated in Section 134(5) of 
the Act with respect to the preparation of these standalone financial statements that give a 
true and fair view of the financial position, financial performance, changes in equity and cash 
flows of the Company in accordance with the accounting principles generally accepted in 
India, including the Indian Accounting Standards specified under Section 133 of the Act. This 
responsibility also includes maintenance of adequate accounting records in accordance with 
the provisions of the Act for safeguarding of the assets of the Company and for preventing and 
detecting frauds and other irregularities; selection and application of appropriate accounting 
policies; making judgments and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and design, 
implementation and maintenance of adequate internal financial controls, that were operating 
effectively for ensuring the accuracy and completeness of the accounting records, relevant to 
the preparation and presentation of the standalone financial statements that give a true and 
fair view and are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

6. In preparing the standalone financial statements, Board of Directors is responsible for 
assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, 
matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless Board 
of Directors either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic 
alternative but to do so. 

7. Those Board of Directors are also responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial 
reporting process.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the Standalone Financial Statements

8. Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the standalone financial 
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and 
to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of 
assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with SAs will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error 
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these standalone 
financial statements.

9. As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain 
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the standalone financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures 
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting 
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. Under Section 143(3)(i) of the Act, 
we are also responsible for expressing our opinion on whether the Company has adequate 
internal financial controls with reference to standalone financial statements in place and 
the operating effectiveness of such controls.
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Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management. 

Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s 
ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, 
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the 
standalone financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease 
to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the standalone financial 
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the standalone financial statements 
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation.

10. We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the 
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

11. We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with 
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all 
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our 
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements 

12. As required by the Companies (Auditor’s Report) Order, 2020 (“the Order”), issued by the 
Central Government of India in terms of sub-section (11) of Section 143 of the Act, we give in 
the “Annexure B” a statement on the matters specified in paragraphs 3 and 4 of the Order, to 
the extent applicable.

13.  As required by Section 143(3) of the Act, we report that: 

(a) We have sought and obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of 
our knowledge and belief were necessary for the purposes of our audit. 

(b) In our opinion, proper books of account as required by law have been kept so far as it 
appears from our examination of those books, except that: (i) In the absence of sufficient 
appropriate audit evidence for one application, we are unable to verify whether the 
backup of books of account and other books and papers maintained in electronic mode 
have been maintained on a daily basis on servers physically located in India during the 
year; (ii) the back-up of one software application for the books of account and other 
books and papers maintained in electronic mode have been kept on servers physically 
located in India on a daily basis, but maintained on every working day other than 
holidays and the matters stated in paragraph 13(h)(vi) below on reporting under Rule 
11(g) of the Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014 (as amended) (“the Rules”). 

(c) The Standalone Balance Sheet, the Standalone Statement of Profit and Loss (including 
other comprehensive income), the Standalone Statement of Changes in Equity and the 
Standalone Statement of Cash Flows dealt with by this Report are in agreement with the 
books of account.
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(d) In our opinion, the aforesaid standalone financial statements comply with the Indian 
Accounting Standards specified under Section 133 of the Act. 

(e) On the basis of the written representations received from the directors as on March 31, 
2025, taken on record by the Board of Directors, none of the directors is disqualified as 
on March 31, 2025, from being appointed as a director in terms of Section 164(2) of the 
Act. 

(f) With respect to the maintenance of accounts and other matters connected therewith, 
reference is made to our remarks in paragraph 13(b) above on reporting under Section 
143(3)(b) and paragraph 13(h)(vi) below on reporting under Rule 11(g) of the Companies 
(Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014 (as amended).

(g) With respect to the adequacy of the internal financial controls with reference to 
standalone financial statements of the Company and the operating effectiveness of such 
controls, refer to our separate Report in “Annexure A”. 

(h) With respect to the other matters to be included in the Auditor’s Report in accordance 
with Rule 11 of the Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014 (as amended), in our 
opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given to us:  

i. The Company has disclosed the impact of pending litigations on its financial position 
in its standalone financial statements – Refer Note 46 to the standalone financial 
statements; 

ii. The Company did not have any long-term contracts including derivative contracts 
for which there were any material foreseeable losses.

iii. There were no amounts which were required to be transferred to the Investor 
Education and Protection Fund by the Company during the year ended March 31, 
2025.

iv. (a) The management has represented that, to the best of its knowledge and belief, 
other than as disclosed in Note 49 to the standalone financial statements, no 
funds have been advanced or loaned or invested (either from borrowed funds or 
share premium or any other sources or kind of funds) by the Company to or in 
any other person(s) or entity(ies), including foreign entities (“Intermediaries”), 
with the understanding, whether recorded in writing or otherwise, that the 
Intermediary shall, whether directly or indirectly, lend or invest in other persons 
or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the Company 
(“Ultimate Beneficiaries”) or provide any guarantee, security or the like on behalf 
of the Ultimate Beneficiaries;

(b)   The management has represented that, to the best of its knowledge and belief, as 
disclosed in the Note 49 to the standalone financial statements, no funds have 
been received by the Company from any person(s) or entity(ies), including foreign 
entities (“Funding Parties”), with the understanding, whether recorded in writing 
or otherwise, that the Company shall, whether directly or indirectly, lend or invest 
in other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf 
of the Funding Party (“Ultimate Beneficiaries”) or provide any guarantee, security 
or the like on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries; and 
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(c)  Based on such audit procedures that we considered reasonable and appropriate 
in the circumstances; nothing has come to our notice that has caused us to believe 
that the representations under sub-clause (a) and (b) contain any material 
misstatement.

v.    The Company has not declared or paid any dividend during the year. 

vi.  Based on our examination, which included test checks, the Company has used 
accounting software for maintaining its books of account which has a feature of 
recording audit trail (edit log) facility and 
a. that has operated throughout the year for all relevant transactions recorded for 
four accounting software, 
b. audit trail not available for three accounting software and 
c. we are unable to comment for one accounting software due to lack of information. 
d. one accounting software does not have the feature of recording audit trail

For direct database changes 
a. audit trail was available for one accounting software,
b. audit trail was not available for three accounting software, 
c. audit trail was not applicable for one accounting software,
d. we are unable to comment for two accounting software due to lack of information 
and
e. we are unable to comment for one accounting software where such software has 
been hosted by a service provider as the relevant information is not available in the 
independent service auditor's report.
f. one accounting software does not have the feature of recording audit trail.

Further, during the course of performing our procedures, except for the aforesaid 
instances of audit trail not maintained at application level and database level where 
the question of our commenting on whether the audit trail has been tampered with 
does not arise, we did not notice any instance of audit trail feature being tampered 
with in cases where the audit trail feature was enabled. 
Further, the audit trail, to the extent maintained in the prior year, has been preserved 
by the Company as per the statutory requirements for record retention.

14. The Company has paid/provided for managerial remuneration in accordance with the 
requisite approvals mandated by the provisions of Section 197 read with Schedule V to the 
Act. 

For Price Waterhouse Chartered Accountants LLP
Firm Registration Number: 012754N/N500016

Sd/-

Nitin Khatri
Partner
Membership Number: 110282

UDIN: 25110282BMOGKB8762

Place: Mumbai 
Date: August 06, 2025
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Report on the Internal Financial Controls with reference to Standalone Financial 
Statements under clause (i) of sub-section 3 of Section 143 of the Act

1. We have audited the internal financial controls with reference to standalone financial 
statements of API Holdings Limited (“the Company”) as of March 31, 2025 in conjunction 
with our audit of the standalone financial statements of the Company for the year ended on 
that date.

Management’s Responsibility for Internal Financial Controls

2. The Company’s management is responsible for establishing and maintaining internal 
financial controls based on the internal control over financial reporting criteria established 
by the Company considering the essential components of internal control stated in the 
Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting (“the 
Guidance Note”) issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India (“ICAI”). These 
responsibilities include the design, implementation and maintenance of adequate internal 
financial controls that were operating effectively for ensuring the orderly and efficient 
conduct of its business, including adherence to company’s policies, the safeguarding of its 
assets, the prevention and detection of frauds and errors, the accuracy and completeness of 
the accounting records, and the timely preparation of reliable financial information, as 
required under the Act.

Auditor’s Responsibility

3. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company's internal financial controls with 
reference to standalone financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in 
accordance with the Guidance Note and the Standards on Auditing specified under Section 
143(10) of the Act to the extent applicable to an audit of internal financial controls, both 
applicable to an audit of internal financial controls and both issued by the ICAI. Those 
Standards and the Guidance Note require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan 
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether adequate internal 
financial controls with reference to standalone financial statements was established and 
maintained and if such controls operated effectively in all material respects. 

4. Our audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of the 
internal financial controls system with reference to standalone financial statements and their 
operating effectiveness. Our audit of internal financial controls with reference to standalone 
financial statements included obtaining an understanding of internal financial controls with 
reference to standalone financial statements, assessing the risk that a material weakness 
exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control 
based on the assessed risk. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, 
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the standalone financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error.

5. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide 
a basis for our audit opinion on the Company’s internal financial controls system with 
reference to standalone financial statements.
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Meaning of Internal Financial Controls with reference to Standalone Financial 
Statements

6. A company's internal financial controls with reference to financial statements is a process 
designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and 
the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles. A company's internal financial controls with reference to 
financial statements includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the 
maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the 
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance 
that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and 
expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorisations of 
management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding 
prevention or timely detection of unauthorised acquisition, use, or disposition of the 
company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Inherent Limitations of Internal Financial Controls with reference to Standalone 
Financial Statements

7. Because of the inherent limitations of internal financial controls with reference to financial 
statements, including the possibility of collusion or improper management override of 
controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected. Also, 
projections of any evaluation of the internal financial controls with reference to financial 
statements to future periods are subject to the risk that the internal financial controls with 
reference to financial statements may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, 
or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. 

Opinion

8. In our opinion, the Company has, in all material respects, adequate internal financial 
controls system with reference to standalone financial statements and such internal financial 
controls with reference to standalone financial statements were operating effectively as at 
March 31, 2025, based on the internal control over financial reporting criteria established by 
the Company considering the essential components of internal control stated in the Guidance 
Note issued by ICAI.

For Price Waterhouse Chartered Accountants LLP
Firm Registration Number: 012754N/N500016

Sd/-

Nitin Khatri
Partner
Membership Number: 110282

UDIN: 25110282BMOGKB8762

Place: Mumbai
Date: August 06, 2025
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In terms of the information and explanations sought by us and furnished by the Company, and 
the books of account and records examined by us during the course of our audit, and to the best 
of our knowledge and belief, we report that:

i. (a) (A) The Company is maintaining proper records showing full particulars, including 
quantitative details and situation, of Property, Plant and Equipment.

(B) The Company is maintaining proper records showing full particulars of Intangible 
Assets.

(b) The Property, Plant and Equipment of the Company have been physically verified by the 
Management during the year and no material discrepancies have been noticed on such 
verification. In our opinion, the frequency of verification is reasonable.

(c) The Company does not own any immovable properties (Refer Note 3 to the standalone 
financial statements). Accordingly, reporting under clause 3(i)(c) of the Order is not 
applicable to the Company.

(d) The Company has chosen cost model for its Property, Plant and Equipment (including 
Right of Use assets) and Intangible Assets. Consequently, the question of our 
commenting on whether the revaluation is based on the valuation by a Registered Valuer, 
or specifying the amount of change, if the change is 10% or more in the aggregate of the 
net carrying value of each class of Property, Plant and Equipment (including Right of Use 
assets) or Intangible Assets does not arise.  

(e)  No proceedings have been initiated on or are pending against the Company for holding 
benami property under the Prohibition of Benami Property Transactions Act, 1988 (as 
amended in 2016) (formerly the Benami Transactions (Prohibition) Act, 1988 (45 of 
1988)) and Rules made thereunder, and therefore the question of our commenting on 
whether the Company has appropriately disclosed the details in the standalone financial 
statements does not arise. 

 
ii. (a) The physical verification of inventory has been conducted at reasonable intervals by the 

Management during the year and, in our opinion, the coverage and procedure of such 
verification by Management is appropriate. The discrepancies noticed on physical 
verification of inventory as compared to book records were not 10% or more in aggregate 
for each class of inventory and have been appropriately dealt with in the books of 
account. 

    (b) During the year, the Company has not been sanctioned working capital limits in excess 
of Rs. 5 crores, in aggregate from banks and financial institutions on the basis of security 
of current assets and accordingly, the question of our commenting on whether the 
quarterly returns or statements are in agreement with the unaudited books of account of 
the Company does not arise.  
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iii.  (a)   The Company has made investments in three companies, granted unsecured loans to five 
companies, or stood guarantee to two companies.  The aggregate amount during the year, 
and balance outstanding at the balance sheet date with respect to such loans and 
guarantees to subsidiaries, are as per the table given below:

 Guarantees (Rs. 
In million)

Loans (Rs. In 
million)

Aggregate amount granted/ provided 
during the year

-          Subsidiaries

 1,050.00  10,980.16

Balance outstanding as at balance 
sheet date in respect of the above case

-          Subsidiaries

 4,103.00  50,471.75

(Also, refer Note 7, 8 and 37 to the standalone financial statements)

(b) In respect of the aforesaid investments/guarantees/ loans, the terms and conditions 
under which such loans were granted/investments were made/guarantees provided are 
not prejudicial to the Company’s interest.

(c)  In respect of the loans, no schedule for repayment of principal and payment of interest 
has been stipulated by the Company. Therefore, in the absence of stipulation of 
repayment terms, we are unable to comment on the regularity of repayment of principal 
and payment of interest.

(d)  In respect of the loans, there is no amount which is overdue for more than ninety days.

(e) There were no loans/ advances in nature of loan which have fallen due during the year 
and were renewed/ extended. Further, during the year, the Company has granted a fresh 
loan amounting to Rs 1,022 million to Ascent Wellness and Pharma Solutions Private 
Limited, a subsidiary company, which was utilised by the said subsidiary company to 
settle the interest accrued and due on an existing loan that was previously granted by the 
Company. Also, refer note 50 to the standalone financial statements.

(f)   Following loans were granted during the year, including to related parties under Section 
2(76), which are repayable on demand or where no schedule for repayment of principal 
has been stipulated by the Company.  

 Related Parties 
(Rs. In million)

Aggregate of loans

-   Repayable on demand 

 10,980.16

Percentage of loans to the total loans  100%

(Also, refer Note 8 and Note 37 to the standalone financial statements)
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iv. In our opinion, the Company has complied with the provisions of Sections 185 and 186 
of the Companies Act, 2013 in respect of the loans and investments made, and 
guarantees and security provided by it. 

v. The Company has not accepted any deposits or amounts which are deemed to be 
deposits referred in Sections 73, 74, 75 and 76 of the Act and the Rules framed there 
under.

vi. The Central Government of India has not specified the maintenance of cost records 
under sub-section (1) of Section 148 of the Act for any of the products and services of the 
Company. Accordingly, reporting under clause 3(vi) of the Order is not applicable to the 
Company.

vii.   (a) In our opinion, the Company is generally regular in depositing undisputed statutory dues 
in respect of provident fund, goods and services tax and professional tax, though there 
has been a slight delay in a few cases, and is regular in depositing undisputed statutory 
dues, including employees’ state insurance, labour welfare fund and other statutory dues, 
as applicable, with the appropriate authorities. 

 (b) There are no statutory dues referred to in sub-clause (a) which have not been deposited 
on account of any dispute. 

      
viii. There are no transactions previously unrecorded in the books of account that have been 

surrendered or disclosed as income during the year in the tax assessments under the 
Income Tax Act, 1961. 

ix.  (a) The Company has not defaulted in repayment of loans or other borrowings or in the 
payment of interest to any lender during the year.

(b) On the basis of our audit procedures, we report that the Company has not been declared 
Wilful Defaulter by any bank or financial institution or government or any government 
authority.

(c)  The Company has not obtained any term loans. Accordingly, reporting under clause 
3(ix)(c) of the Order is not applicable to the Company.

(d) According to the information and explanations given to us, and the procedures 
performed by us, and on an overall examination of the standalone financial statements 
of the Company, we report that no funds raised on short-term basis have been utilised 
for long-term purposes by the Company.  

(e) On an overall examination of the standalone financial statements of the Company, we 
report that the Company has not taken any funds from any entity or person on account 
of or to meet the obligations of its subsidiaries, associates or joint ventures. 

(f) According to the information and explanations given to us and procedures performed by 
us, we report that the Company has not raised loans during the year on the pledge of 
securities held in its subsidiaries, joint ventures or associate companies. 

 x.  (a)   The Company has not raised any money by way of initial public offer or further public 
offer (including debt instruments) during the year. Accordingly, the reporting under 
clause 3(x)(a) of the Order is not applicable to the Company.   
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     (b)   The Company has made a preferential allotment and private placement of shares 
during the year, in compliance with the requirements of Section 42 and Section 62 of 
the Act. The funds raised have been used for the purpose for which funds were raised

 xi.  (a)  During the course of our examination of the books and records of the Company, carried 
out in accordance with the generally accepted auditing practices in India, we have 
neither come across any instance of material fraud by the Company or on the Company, 
noticed or reported during the year, nor have we been informed of any such case by the 
Management.  

  (b)  During the course of our examination of the books and records of the Company, carried 
out in accordance with the generally accepted auditing practices in India, a report under 
Section 143(12) of the Act, in Form ADT-4, as prescribed under rule 13 of Companies 
(Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014 was not required to be filed with the Central 
Government. Accordingly, the reporting under clause 3(xi)(b) of the Order is not 
applicable to the Company.

(c)  During the course of our examination of the books and records of the Company carried 
out in accordance with the generally accepted auditing practices in India, and as 
represented to us by the management, no whistle-blower complaints have been received 
during the year by the Company. Accordingly, the reporting under clause 3(xi)(c) of the 
Order is not applicable to the Company.

xii.      As the Company is not a Nidhi Company and the Nidhi Rules, 2014 are not applicable to 
it, the reporting under clause 3(xii) of the Order is not applicable to the Company.

xiii. The Company has entered into transactions with related parties in compliance with the 
provisions of Sections 177 and 188 of the Act. The details of related party transactions 
have been disclosed in the standalone financial statements as required under Indian 
Accounting Standard 24 “Related Party Disclosures” specified under Section 133 of the 
Act.

xiv. (a) In our opinion, the Company has an internal audit system commensurate with the size 
and nature of its business.

(b) The reports of the Internal Auditor for the period under audit have been considered by 
us.

xv.   In our opinion, the Company has not entered into any non-cash transactions with its 
directors or persons connected with him. Accordingly, the reporting on compliance with 
the provisions of Section 192 of the Act under clause 3(xv) of the Order is not applicable 
to the Company.

xvi. (a)  The Company is not required to be registered under Section 45-IA of the Reserve Bank 
of India Act, 1934. Accordingly, the reporting under clause 3(xvi)(a) of the Order is not 
applicable to the Company.

(b) The Company has not conducted non-banking financial / housing finance activities 
during the year. Accordingly, the reporting under clause 3(xvi)(b) of the Order is not 
applicable to the Company.

(c)  The Company is not a Core Investment Company (CIC) as defined in the regulations 
made by the Reserve Bank of India. Accordingly, the reporting under clause 3(xvi)(c) of 
the Order is not applicable to the Company.
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  (d)  In our opinion, the Group (as defined in the Core Investment Companies (Reserve Bank) 
Directions, 2016) does not have any CICs, which are part of the Group. Accordingly, the 
reporting under clause 3(xvi)(d) of the Order is not applicable to the Company.

xvii.       The Company has incurred cash losses of Rs. 1,852.06 million in the financial year and 
of Rs. 5,667.61 million in the immediately preceding financial year.

xviii.      There has been no resignation of the statutory auditors during the year and accordingly 
the reporting under clause 3(xviii) of the Order is not applicable.

xix.    On the basis of the financial ratios (Also refer note 38 to the standalone financial 
statements), ageing and expected dates of realisation of financial assets and payment of 
financial liabilities, other information accompanying the standalone financial 
statements, our knowledge of the Board of Directors and management plans and based 
on our examination of the evidence supporting the assumptions, nothing has come to 
our attention, which causes us to believe that any material uncertainty exists as on the 
date of the audit report that the Company is not capable of meeting its liabilities existing 
at the date of balance sheet as and when they fall due within a period of one year from 
the balance sheet date. We, however, state that this is not an assurance as to the future 
viability of the Company. We further state that our reporting is based on the facts up to 
the date of the audit report and we neither give any guarantee nor any assurance that all 
liabilities falling due within a period of one year from the balance sheet date will get 
discharged by the Company as and when they fall due.

 xx.      The Company was not required to spend any amount during the year for Corporate Social 
Responsibility under Section 135(5) and 135(6) of the Act. Accordingly, there is no 
amount unspent as at March 31, 2025, and the reporting under clause 3(xx) of the Order 
is not applicable to the Company. 

xxi.        The reporting under clause 3(xxi) of the Order is not applicable in respect of audit of 
standalone financial statements. Accordingly, no comment in respect of the said clause 
has been included in this report.

For Price Waterhouse Chartered Accountants LLP
Firm Registration Number: 012754N/N500016 

Sd/-

Nitin Khatri
Partner
Membership Number: 110282  

UDIN: 25110282BMOGKB8762

Place: Mumbai
Date: August 6, 2025
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  INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

To the Members of API Holdings Limited

Report on the Audit of the Consolidated Financial statements 

Opinion

1. We have audited the accompanying Consolidated financial statements of API Holdings 
Limited (hereinafter referred to as the “Holding Company”) and its subsidiaries (Holding 
Company and its subsidiaries together referred to as “the Group”), its associates and joint 
venture (refer Note 53 to the attached consolidated financial statements), which comprise 
the consolidated Balance Sheet as at March 31, 2025, and the Consolidated Statement of 
Profit and Loss (including Other Comprehensive loss), the Consolidated Statement of 
Changes in Equity  and the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the year then ended, 
and notes to the Consolidated financial statements, including  material accounting policy 
information and other explanatory information (hereinafter referred to as “the 
Consolidated financial statements”).

2. In our opinion and to the best of our information and according to the explanations given 
to us, the aforesaid consolidated financial statements give the information required by the 
Companies Act, 2013 (“the Act”) in the manner so required and give a true and fair view in 
conformity with the accounting principles generally accepted in India, of the consolidated 
state of affairs of the Group, its associates and joint venture as at March 31, 2025, and 
consolidated total comprehensive loss (comprising of loss and other comprehensive loss), 
consolidated changes in equity and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended. 

Basis for Opinion  

3. We conducted our audit in accordance with the Standards on Auditing (SAs) specified under 
Section 143(10) of the Act. Our responsibilities under those Standards are further described 
in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” 
section of our report. We are independent of the Group, its associates and joint venture in 
accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated 
financial statements in India in terms of the Code of Ethics issued by the Institute of 
Chartered Accountants of India and the relevant provisions of the Act, and we have fulfilled 
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the 
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion. 
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4. Emphasis of Matters

a) The Audit report on the Financial Statements of a subsidiary, Care Easy Health Tech 
Private Limited, issued by the independent firm of Chartered Accountants vide its 
report dated July 19, 2025, contains the following emphasis of matter, which is 
reproduced as under:

“We draw your attention to Note no 31 to the financial statements regarding 
preparation of financial statements on a realisable value basis the company has ceased 
to carry on its business operations. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this 
matter.” 

Note no. 31 as described above is reproduced as note 57(a) to the consolidated financial 
statements.

b) The Audit report on the Financial Statements of a subsidiary, Muthu Pharma Private 
Limited, issued by the independent firm of Chartered Accountants vide its report dated 
July 23, 2025, contains the following emphasis of matter, which is reproduced as 
under:

“We draw your attention to Note no. 19 to the financial statements, regarding the 
preparation of the financial statements on other than going concern basis. Our opinion 
is not modified in respect of this matter.” 

Note no. 19 as described above is reproduced as note 57(b) to the consolidated 
financial statements. 

c) The Audit report on the Financial Statements of a subsidiary, Pearl Medicals Private 
Limited, issued by the independent firm of Chartered Accountants vide its report dated 
July 23, 2025, contains the following emphasis of matter, which is reproduced as 
under:

“We draw your attention to Note no. 15 to the financial statements, regarding the 
preparation of the financial statements on other than going concern basis. Our opinion 
is not modified in respect of this matter.”

Note no. 15 as described above is reproduced as note 57(c) to the consolidated financial 
statements.

d) The Audit report on the Financial Statements of a subsidiary, Rau and Co Pharma 
Private Limited, issued by the independent firm of Chartered Accountants vide its 
report dated July 23, 2025, contains the following emphasis of matter, which is 
reproduced as under:

“We draw your attention to Note no. 15 to the financial statements, regarding the 
preparation of the financial statements on other than going concern basis. Our opinion 
is not modified in respect of this matter.” 

Note no. 15 as described above is reproduced as note 57(d) to the consolidated financial 
statements.
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e) The Audit report on the Financial Statements of a subsidiary, Shell Pharmaceuticals 
Private Limited, issued by the independent firm of Chartered Accountants vide its 
report dated July 23, 2025, contains the following emphasis of matter, which is 
reproduced as under:

“We draw your attention to Note no. 14 to the financial statements, regarding the 
preparation of the financial statements on other than going concern basis. Our opinion 
is not modified in respect of this matter.”

 Note no. 14 as described above is reproduced as note 57(e) to the consolidated 
financial statements.

f) The Audit report on the Financial Statements of a subsidiary, Dial Health Drug 
Supplies Private Limited, issued by the independent firm of Chartered Accountants 
vide its report dated July 23, 2025, contains the following emphasis of matter, which 
is reproduced as under:

“We draw your attention to Note no. 22 to the financial statements, regarding the 
preparation of the financial statements on other than going concern basis. Our opinion 
is not modified in respect of this matter.” 

Note no. 22 as described above is reproduced as note 57(f) to the consolidated financial 
statements.

g) The Audit report on the Financial Statements of a subsidiary, Desai Pharma 
Distributors Private Limited, issued by the independent firm of Chartered Accountants 
vide its report dated July 23, 2025, contains the following emphasis of matter, which 
is reproduced as under:

“We draw your attention to Note no. 29 to the financial statements, regarding the 
preparation of the financial statements on other than going concern basis. Our opinion 
is not modified in respect of this matter.”

Note no. 29 as described above is reproduced as note 57(g) to the consolidated 
financial statements.

Our opinion is not modified in respect of these above matters. 

Other Information

5. The Holding Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for the other information. The 
other information comprises the information included in the director’s report but does not 
include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information 
and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is 
to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is 
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge 
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work 
we have performed and the reports of the other auditors as furnished to us (Refer 
paragraph 14 below), we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the 
Consolidated Financial Statements

6. The Holding Company’s Board of Directors is responsible for the preparation and 
presentation of these consolidated financial statements in term of the requirements of the 
Act that give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position, consolidated 
financial performance and consolidated cash flows, and changes in equity of the Group 
including its associates and joint venture in accordance with the accounting principles 
generally accepted in India, including the  Indian Accounting Standards specified under 
Section 133 of the Act. The respective Board of Directors of the companies included in the 
Group and of its associates and joint venture are responsible for maintenance of adequate 
accounting records in accordance with the provisions of the Act for safeguarding the assets 
of the Group and for preventing and detecting frauds and other irregularities; selection and 
application of appropriate accounting policies; making judgments and estimates that are 
reasonable and prudent; and the design, implementation and maintenance of adequate 
internal financial controls, that were operating effectively for ensuring accuracy and 
completeness of the accounting records, relevant to the preparation and presentation of 
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view and are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, which have been used for the 
purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial statements by the Directors of the 
Holding Company, as aforesaid.

7. In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the respective Board of Directors of 
the companies included in the Group and of its associates and joint venture are 
responsible for assessing the ability of the Group and of its associates and joint venture to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern 
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Board of Directors either 
intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to 
do so.

8. The respective Board of Directors of the companies included in the Group and of its 
associates and joint venture are responsible for overseeing the financial reporting process 
of the Group and of its associates and joint venture.

  Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements

9. Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated 
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance 
is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with SAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can 
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

10. As part of an audit in accordance with SAs, we exercise professional judgment and 
maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

● Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial 
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures 
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control.
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● Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. Under Section 143(3)(i) 
of the Act, we are also responsible for expressing our opinion on whether the Holding 
Company has adequate internal financial controls with reference to consolidated 
financial statements in place and the operating effectiveness of such controls.

● Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of 
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by management.

● Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of 
accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on 
the ability of the Group and its associates and joint venture to continue as a going 
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw 
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated 
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. 
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our 
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group and its 
associates and joint venture to cease to continue as a going concern. 

● Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial 
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial 
statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that 
achieves fair presentation. 

● Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of 
the entities or business activities within the Group and its associates and joint 
venture to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are 
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the audit of the 
financial statements of such entities included in the consolidated financial 
statements of which we are the independent auditors. For the other entities included 
in the consolidated financial statements, which have been audited by other auditors, 
such other auditors remain responsible for the direction, supervision and 
performance of the audits carried out by them. We remain solely responsible for our 
audit opinion.

11. We communicate with those charged with governance of the Holding Company and such 
other entities included in the consolidated financial statements of which we are the 
independent auditors regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of 
the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal 
control that we identify during our audit.

12. We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied 
with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with 
them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our 
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.
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Other Matters

13. The audit report on the consolidated financial statements of Akna Medical Private Limited, 
a subsidiary of the Holding Company, issued by an independent firm of Chartered 
Accountants vide its report dated July 29, 2025 contains the following Basis for 
Qualification, which is reproduced as under:

“As more fully described in Note 27 to the Consolidated financial statements, the Group is 
unable to determine the appropriate presentation and disclosure of investment in Impex 
Healthcare Private Limited as the management is unclear whether it exercises significant 
influence on the aforesaid entity. Pending such assessment, we are unable to comment on 
the consequential implication, if any on the consolidated financial statements as at and for 
the year ended March 31, 2025.”

Note 27 as described above is included in note 59 to the consolidated financial statements 
for the year ended March 31, 2025.

Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 

14. The consolidated financial statements of seventeen subsidiaries, reflect total assets of Rs. 
11,268.93 million and net assets of Rs. 663.39 million as at March 31, 2025, total revenue 
of Rs.15,745.53 million, total comprehensive loss (comprising of loss and other 
comprehensive loss) of Rs 1,827.07 million and net cash inflows amounting to Rs. 7.69 
million for the year ended on that date, as considered in the consolidated financial 
statements. The consolidated financial statements also include the Group’s share of total 
comprehensive income (comprising of profit and other comprehensive income) of Rs. 10.10 
million for the year ended March 31, 2025 as considered in the consolidated financial 
statements, in respect of one associate whose financial statements have not been audited 
by us.  The financial statements of these subsidiaries and associate have been audited by 
other auditors whose reports have been furnished to us by the Holding Company’s 
management, and our opinion on the consolidated financial statements insofar as it relates 
to the amounts and disclosures included in respect of these subsidiaries, and associate and 
our report in terms of sub-section (3) of Section 143 of the Act including report on Other 
Information insofar as it relates to the aforesaid subsidiaries, and associate, is based on the 
reports of the other auditors and the procedures performed by us.

15. The consolidated financial statements also include the Group’s share of total 
comprehensive loss (comprising of loss and other comprehensive loss) of Rs. 24.50 million 
for the year ended March 31, 2025 as considered in the consolidated financial statements, 
in respect of one joint venture whose financial statements have not been audited by us. The 
financial statements of this joint venture are unaudited and have been furnished to us by 
the management, and our opinion on the consolidated financial statements insofar as it 
relates to the amounts and disclosures included in respect of these joint venture and our 
report in terms of sub-section (3) of Section 143  of the Act including report on Other 
Information insofar as it relates to the aforesaid joint venture, is based solely on such 
unaudited financial statements. In our opinion and according to the information and 
explanations given to us by the management, these financial statements are not material 
to the Group.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, and our report on Other Legal and 
Regulatory Requirements below, is not modified in respect of the above matters with 
respect to our reliance on the work done and reports of the other auditors and the financial 
statements certified by the management.
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Report on Other Legal and Regulatory Requirements
     

16. As required by paragraph 3(xxi) of the CARO 2020, we report that the auditors of the following 
companies have given qualification or adverse remarks in their CARO report on the standalone 
financial statements of the respective companies included in the Consolidated Financial Statements 
of the Holding Company:  

S. 
No. Name of the Company CIN

Relationship 
with the 
Holding 
Company

Paragraph 
number in the 
respective CARO 
report 
reproduced below

1 API Holdings Limited U60100MH2019PLC323444 Not 
Applicable (iii)(e), (xvii) 

2 Akna Medical Private 
Limited U74999HR2018PTC073972 Subsidiary (ii)(b), (xvii)

3
Vardhman Health 
Specialties Private 
Limited

U85110KA1997PTC022000 Subsidiary (ii)(b), (xvii)

4 Shreeji Distributors 
Pharma Private Limited U52310MH2006PTC159945 Subsidiary (ii)(b), (xvii)

5 Supplythis Technologies 
Private Limited U51909KA2021PTC148214 Subsidiary (xvii), (xix)

6 Ayro Retail Solutions 
Private Limited U74999PN2017PTC190721 Subsidiary (ix)(a) (d), (xvii)

7 Threpsi Solutions Private 
Limited U74999MH2019PTC320524 Subsidiary (ix)(d), (xvii) 

8 Avighna Medicare Private 
Limited U51909MH2018PTC402763 Subsidiary (ix)(d), (xvii)

9 Aryan Wellness Private 
Limited U51909HR2017PTC071447 Subsidiary (ix)(d), (xvii)

10
Eastern Agencies 
Healthcare Private 
Limited

U72900DL2001PTC109143 Subsidiary (xvii)

11 Venkatesh Medico Private 
Limited U24304KA2017PTC106716 Subsidiary (ix)(d), (xvii) 

12 D. C. Agencies private 
limited U74999DL2016PTC304376 Subsidiary (ix)(d), (xvii)

13 Docon Technologies 
Private Limited U72900KA2016PTC126436 Subsidiary (vii) (a), (ix) (d)

14 Aycon Graph Connect 
Private Limited  U72900MH2019PTC327097 Subsidiary (iii) (c) (d), 

(ix)(d), (xvii)

15
Ascent Wellness and 
Pharma Solutions Private 
Limited

U74999MH2019PTC325869 Subsidiary (ix)(d), (xvii)

16 Care Easy Health Tech 
Private Limited U85100MH2021PTC371921 Subsidiary (xvii), (xix) 

17 Muthu Pharma Private 
Limited U51909TN2016PTC104638 Subsidiary (xvii), (xix)
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18 Pearl Medicals Private 
Limited U85120TN1999PTC042837 Subsidiary (xvii), (xix) 

19 Rau and Co Pharma 
Private Limited U51109MH2016PTC449215 Subsidiary (xvii), (xix) 

20 Shell Pharmaceuticals 
Private Limited U51909TN2009PTC072476 Subsidiary (xvii), (xix) 

21 Dial Health Drug 
Supplies Private Limited U51101MH2015PTC270083 Subsidiary (xvii), (xix) 

22
Desai Pharma 
Distributors Private 
Limited 

U74999MH2013PTC247908 Subsidiary (xvii), (xix)

17. As required by Section 143(3) of the Act, we report, to the extent applicable, that:

(a) We have sought and obtained all the information and explanations which to the best of our 
knowledge and belief were necessary for the purposes of our audit of the aforesaid consolidated 
financial statements.

(b) In our opinion, proper books of account as required by law relating to preparation of the aforesaid 
consolidated financial statements have been kept so far as it appears from our examination of those 
books and the reports of the other auditors, except for the instances mentioned below and the 
matters stated in paragraph 17 (h)(vi) below on reporting under Rule 11(g) of the Companies (Audit 
and Auditors) Rules, 2014 (as amended) (“the Rules”):

S.no. Name Relationship 
with holding 
company

Remarks

1 API Holdings 
Limited

Not 
Applicable

(i) In the absence of sufficient appropriate audit evidence for 
one application, we are unable to verify whether the backup 
of books of account and other books and papers maintained 
in electronic mode have been maintained on a daily basis on 
servers physically located in India during the year; 

(ii) The back-up of one software application for the books of 
account and other books and papers maintained in electronic 
mode have been kept on servers physically located in India 
on a daily basis, but maintained on every working day other 
than holidays.

2 Threpsi 
Solutions 
Private 
Limited

Subsidiary
(i) In the absence of sufficient appropriate audit evidence for 
one application, we are unable to verify whether the backup 
of books of account and other books and papers maintained 
in electronic mode have been maintained on a daily basis on 
servers physically located in India during the year; 

(ii) The back-up of one software application for the books of 
account and other books and papers maintained in electronic 
mode have been kept on servers physically located in India 
on a daily basis, but maintained on every working day other 
than holidays.
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3 Docon 
Technologies 
Private 
Limited

Subsidiary In the absence of sufficient appropriate audit evidence for 
one software application, we are unable to verify whether the 
backup of books of account and other books and papers 
maintained in electronic mode has been maintained on a 
daily basis on servers physically located in India during the 
year.

4 D.C. Agencies 
Private 
Limited

Subsidiary In the absence of sufficient appropriate audit evidence for 
one software application, we are unable to verify whether the 
backup of books of account and other books and papers 
maintained in electronic mode has been maintained on a 
daily basis on servers physically located in India during the 
year, and for one software application, the back-up of the 
books of account and other books and papers maintained in 
electronic mode has not been kept on servers physically 
located in India on a daily basis, but maintained on every 
working day other than holidays.

5 Akna Medical 
Private 
Limited 
(Consolidated)

Subsidiary In the absence of sufficient appropriate audit evidence we are 
unable to comment whether back-up of the books of account 
and other books and papers maintained in electronic mode, 
have been kept in servers physically located in India on a 
daily basis.

6 AKP 
Healthcare 
Private 
Limited

Subsidiary In the absence of sufficient appropriate audit evidence, we 
are unable to verify whether the backup of books of account 
and other books and papers maintained in electronic mode 
has been maintained on a daily basis on servers physically 
located in India during the year.

7 Ayro Retail 
Solutions 
Private 
Limited

Subsidiary In the absence of sufficient appropriate audit evidence, we 
are unable to verify whether the backup of certain books of 
account and other books and papers maintained in electronic 
mode has been maintained on a daily basis during the year.

8 Mahaveer 
Medi-Sales 
Private 
Limited

Subsidiary In the absence of sufficient appropriate audit evidence, we 
are unable to verify whether the backup of books of account 
and other books and papers maintained in electronic mode 
has been maintained on a daily basis on servers physically 
located in India during the year.

9 Venkatesh 
Medico 
Private 
Limited

Subsidiary In the absence of sufficient appropriate audit evidence, we 
are unable to verify whether the backup of certain books of 
account and other books and papers maintained in electronic 
mode has been maintained on a daily basis on servers 
physically located in India during the period January 1, 2025 
to March 31, 2025.
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10 Aycon Graph 
Connect 
Private 
Limited

Subsidiary In the absence of sufficient appropriate audit evidence, we 
are unable to verify whether the backup of certain books of 
account and other books and papers maintained in electronic 
mode has been maintained on a daily basis during the year.

11 Ascent 
Wellness and 
Pharma 
Solutions 
Private 
Limited

Subsidiary In the absence of sufficient appropriate audit evidence, we 
are unable to verify whether the backup of certain books of 
account and other books and papers maintained in electronic 
mode has been maintained on a daily basis during the year.

12 Aryan 
Wellness 
Private 
Limited

Subsidiary In the absence of sufficient appropriate audit evidence, we 
are unable to verify whether the backup of certain books of 
account and other books and papers maintained in electronic 
mode has been maintained on a daily basis during the year.

13 Eastern 
Agencies 
Healthcare 
Private 
Limited

Subsidiary In the absence of sufficient appropriate audit evidence, we 
are unable to verify whether the backup of certain books of 
account and other books and papers maintained in electronic 
mode has been maintained on a daily basis during the period 
March 1, 2025 to March 31, 2025.

14 Avighna 
Medicare 
Private 
Limited

Subsidiary In the absence of sufficient appropriate audit evidence, we 
are unable to verify whether the backup of certain books of 
account and other books and papers maintained in electronic 
mode has been maintained on a daily basis during the year.

(c) The Consolidated Balance Sheet, the Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss (including other 
comprehensive loss), the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity and the Consolidated 
Statement of Cash Flows dealt with by this Report are in agreement with the relevant books of 
account and records maintained for the purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial 
statements.

(d) In our opinion, the aforesaid consolidated financial statements comply with the Indian 
Accounting Standards specified under Section 133 of the Act.

(e) On the basis of the written representations received from the directors of the Holding Company 
as on March 31, 2025 taken on record by the Board of Directors of the Holding Company and the 
reports of the statutory auditors of its subsidiaries, associates incorporated in India, none of the 
directors of the Group companies, its associates incorporated in India is disqualified as on March 
31, 2025 from being appointed as a director in terms of Section 164(2) of the Act.

(f) With respect to the maintenance of accounts and other matters connected therewith, reference is 
made to our remarks in paragraph 17(b) above on reporting under Section 143(3)(b) and 
paragraph 17(h)(vi) below on reporting under Rule 11(g) of the Rules.

(g) With respect to the adequacy of internal financial controls with reference to consolidated 
financial statements of the Group and the operating effectiveness of such controls, refer to our 
separate report in Annexure A.
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(h) With respect to the other matters to be included in the Auditor’s Report in accordance with Rule 
11 of the Companies (Audit and Auditors) Rules, 2014, in our opinion and to the best of our 
information and according to the explanations given to us:

i. The consolidated financial statements disclose the impact, if any, of pending litigations on 
the consolidated financial position of the Group, its associates and joint venture– Refer Note 
55 to the consolidated financial statements.

ii. The Group and its associates were not required to recognise a provision as at March 31, 2025 
under the applicable law or accounting standards, as it does not have any material foreseeable 
losses on long-term contract. The Group and its associates did not have any derivative 
contracts as at March 31, 2025.

iii. During the year ended March 31, 2025, there were no amounts which were required to be 
transferred to the Investor Education and Protection Fund by the Holding Company, and its 
subsidiaries and associates incorporated in India.

iv. (a) The respective managements of the Holding Company and its subsidiaries/associates 
which are companies incorporated in India whose financial statements have been audited 
under the Act have represented to us and the other auditors of such subsidiaries/associates 
respectively that, to the best of their knowledge and belief, as disclosed in Note 58 to the 
consolidated financial statements, no funds  have been advanced or loaned or invested (either 
from borrowed funds or share premium or any other sources or kind of funds) by the Holding 
Company or any of such subsidiaries/associates to or in any other person(s) or entity(ies), 
including foreign entities (“Intermediaries”), with the understanding, whether recorded in 
writing or otherwise, that the Intermediary shall, whether directly or indirectly, lend or invest 
in other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the Holding 
Company or any of such subsidiaries/associates (“Ultimate Beneficiaries”) or provide any 
guarantee, security or the like on behalf of the Ultimate Beneficiaries.

(b) The respective managements of the Holding Company and its subsidiaries/associate which 
are companies incorporated in India whose financial statements have been audited under the 
Act have represented to us and the other auditors of such subsidiaries/associates respectively 
that, to the best of their knowledge and belief, as disclosed in the Notes 58 to the financial 
statements, no funds  have been received by the Company or any of such 
subsidiaries/associates from any person(s) or entity(ies), including foreign entities (“Funding 
Parties”), with the understanding, whether recorded in writing or otherwise, that the Company 
or any of such subsidiaries/associates shall, whether directly or indirectly, lend or invest in 
other persons or entities identified in any manner whatsoever by or on behalf of the Funding 
Party (“Ultimate Beneficiaries”) or provide any guarantee, security or the like on behalf of the 
Ultimate Beneficiaries.

(c) Based on the audit procedures, that has been considered reasonable and appropriate in the 
circumstances, performed by us and those performed by the auditors of the 
subsidiaries/associates which are companies incorporated in India whose financial statements 
have been audited under the Act, nothing has come to our or other auditor’s notice that has 
caused us or the other auditors to believe that the representations under sub-clause (i) and (ii) 
of Rule 11(e) contain any material misstatement.      

v. The dividend paid during the year by one subsidiary is in compliance with Section 123 of the 
Act. The Holding Company, its subsidiaries (other than those mentioned above), associates and 
joint venture, have not declared or paid any dividend during the year. 
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vi. Based on our examination, which included test checks and that performed by the respective 
auditors of the subsidiaries and associates which are companies incorporated in India whose 
financial statements have been audited under the Act, except for the instances mentioned below, 
the Group, and its associates have used accounting software for maintaining their books of 
account which have a feature of recording audit trail (edit log) facility and that has operated 
throughout the year for all relevant transactions recorded in the software. During the course of 
our audit, other than as described below we, and the respective auditors of the above referred 
subsidiaries and associates, did not notice any instance of the audit trail feature being tampered 
with. Further, the audit trail has been preserved by the Group and its associates as per the 
statutory requirements for record retention:

S.
no.

Name Relationship Remarks

1 API Holdings 
Limited

Holding 
Company

“Based on our examination, which included test checks, the 
Company has used accounting software for maintaining its 
books of account which has a feature of recording audit trail 
(edit log) facility and 
a. that has operated throughout the year for all relevant 
transactions recorded for four accounting software, 
b. audit trail not available for three accounting software and 
c. we are unable to comment for one accounting software due to 
lack of information. 
d. one accounting software does not have the feature of 
recording audit trail

For direct database changes 
a. audit trail was available for one accounting software,
b. audit trail was not available for three accounting software, 
c. audit trail was not applicable for one accounting software,
d. we are unable to comment for two accounting software due to 
lack of information and
e. we are unable to comment for one accounting software where 
such software has been hosted by a service provider as the 
relevant information is not available in the independent service 
auditor's report.
f. one accounting software does not have the feature of 
recording audit trail.”

2 Threpsi 
Solutions 
Private 
Limited 

Subsidiary “Based on our examination, which included test checks, the 
Company has used accounting software for maintaining its 
books of account which has a feature of recording audit trail 
(edit log) facility and 
a. that has operated throughout the year for all relevant 
transactions recorded for four accounting software, 
b. audit trail not available for two accounting software and 
c. we are unable to comment for one accounting software due to 
lack of information. 
d. one accounting software does not have the feature of 
recording audit trail.
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For direct database changes 
a. audit trail was available for one accounting software,
b. audit trail was not available for three accounting software, 
c. we are unable to comment for two accounting software due to 
lack of information and
d. we are unable to comment for one accounting software where 
such software has been hosted by a service provider as the 
relevant information is not available in the independent service 
auditor's report.
e. one accounting software does not have the feature of 
recording audit trail.”

3 AKP 
Healthcare 
Private 
Limited 

Subsidiary “Based on our examination, which included test checks, 
a) in respect of one accounting software, the Company has used 
an accounting software for maintaining its books of account 
which has a feature of recording audit trail (edit log) facility that 
has operated during the year for all relevant transactions 
recorded in the software, except for certain information or data 
recorded in the software. Further, the audit trail feature has not 
been enabled at the database level to log any direct data 
changes.
b) in respect of another accounting software, the accounting 
software used by the Company did not have a feature of audit 
trail (edit log) facility.
c) in respect of third accounting software, in the absence of 
adequate evidence of necessary controls and documentation 
regarding whether audit trail feature is enabled for all relevant 
transactions, we are unable to comment on the audit trail 
feature of the aforesaid software.”

4 Eastern 
Agencies 
Private 
Limited 

Subsidiary “Based on our examination, which included test checks, the 
Company has used accounting software for maintaining its 
books of account which has a feature of recording audit trail 
(edit log) facility and that has operated throughout the year for 
all relevant transactions recorded in the accounting software, 
except for following: 

For application changes
a) audit trail not available for three accounting software and 
b) we are unable to comment for one accounting software due 

to lack of information. 

For direct database changes 
a) audit trail was not available for four accounting software, 
b) we are unable to comment for two accounting software due 

to lack of information and
c) we are unable to comment for one accounting software 

where such software has been hosted by a service provider 
as the relevant information is not available in the 
independent service auditor's report.
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And in respect of another accounting software, the accounting 
software used by the Company did not have a feature of audit 
trail (edit log) facility both for database and application 
changes.”

5 Venkatesh 
Medico 
Private 
Limited 

Subsidiary “Based on our examination, which included test checks, 
a) in respect of one accounting software, the Company has used 
an accounting software for maintaining its books of account 
which has a feature of recording audit trail (edit log) facility that 
has operated during the year for all relevant transactions 
recorded in the software, except for certain information or data 
recorded in the software. Further, the audit trail feature has not 
been enabled at the database level to log any direct data 
changes.
b) in respect of another accounting software, the accounting 
software used by the Company did not have a feature of audit 
trail (edit log) facility.
c) in respect of third accounting software, in the absence of 
adequate evidence of necessary controls and documentation 
regarding whether audit trail feature is enabled for all relevant 
transactions, we are unable to comment on the audit trail 
feature of the aforesaid software.”

6 Aushad 
Pharma 
Distributors 
Private 
Limited 

Subsidiary “Based on our examination, which included test checks, 
a) in respect of one accounting software, the Company has used 
an accounting software for maintaining its books of account 
which has a feature of recording audit trail (edit log) facility that 
has operated during the year for all relevant transactions 
recorded in the software, except for certain information or data 
recorded in the software. Further, the audit trail feature has not 
been enabled at the database level to log any direct data 
changes.
b) in respect of another accounting software, the accounting 
software used by the Company did not have a feature of audit 
trail (edit log) facility.”

7 Avighna 
Medicare 
Private 
Limited

Subsidiary “Based on our examination, which included test checks, the 
Company has used multiple accounting software for 
maintaining its books of account, which have a feature of 
recording audit trail (edit log) facility and that has operated 
throughout the year for all relevant transactions recorded in 
the software, except for the following:

(i) in respect of the four-accounting software, the audit trail 
feature was not enabled at the database level to log any direct 
data changes.

(ii) one accounting software does not have the feature of 
recording audit trail and in respect of another two-
accounting software, the audit trail feature was not enabled; 
and
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(iii) in respect of one accounting software, in the absence of 
adequate evidence of necessary controls and documentation 
regarding whether audit trail feature is enabled for all 
relevant transactions, we are unable to comment on the audit 
trail feature of the aforesaid software.

8 Aycon Graph 
Connect 
Private 
Limited 

Subsidiary “Based on our examination, which included test checks, the 
Company has used multiple accounting software for 
maintaining its books of account, which have a feature of 
recording audit trail (edit log) facility and that has operated 
throughout the year for all relevant transactions recorded in the 
software, except for the following:

(a) in respect of the core accounting software, the audit trail 
feature was not enabled at the database level to log any direct 
data changes. 
(b) one accounting software does not have the feature of 
recording audit trail;”

9 Aryan 
Wellness 
Private 
Limited 

Subsidiary “Based on our examination, which included test checks, the 
Company has used multiple accounting software for 
maintaining its books of account, which have a feature of 
recording audit trail (edit log) facility and that has operated 
throughout the year for all relevant transactions recorded in 
the software, except for the following:

(iv) in respect of the four-accounting software, the audit trail 
feature was not enabled at the database level to log any direct 
data changes.

(ii) one accounting software does not have the feature of 
recording audit trail and in respect of another two-
accounting software, the audit trail feature was not enabled; 
and

(iii) in respect of one accounting software, in the absence of 
adequate evidence of necessary controls and documentation 
regarding whether audit trail feature is enabled for all 
relevant transactions, we are unable to comment on the audit 
trail feature of the aforesaid software.”

10 Ayro Retail 
Solutions 
Private 
Limited

Subsidiary “Based on our examination, which included test checks, 
a) in respect of one accounting software, the Company has used 
an accounting software for maintaining its books of account 
which has a feature of recording audit trail (edit log) facility that 
has operated during the year for all relevant transactions 
recorded in the software. Further, the audit trail feature has not 
been enabled at the database level to log any direct data 
changes.
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b) in respect of another accounting software, the accounting 
software used by the Company did not have a feature of audit 
trail (edit log) facility
c) in respect of third accounting software which has a feature of 
recording audit trail (edit log) facility that has operated during 
the year for all relevant transactions recorded in the software.”

11 D.C Agencies 
Private 
Limited 

Subsidiary “Based on our examination, which included test checks, the 
Company has used multiple accounting software for 
maintaining its books of account which has a feature of 
recording audit trail (edit log) facility and that has operated 
throughout the year for all relevant transactions recorded in the 
accounting software, except for following,

For application changes 
a. audit trail not available for three accounting software and 
b. we are unable to comment for one accounting software due 

to lack of information.

For direct database changes 
a. audit trail was not available for four accounting software,
b. we are unable to comment for two accounting software due 

to lack of information, and
c. we are unable to comment for one accounting software 

where such software has been hosted by a service provider 
as the relevant information is not available in the 
independent service auditor's report. 

And in respect of another accounting software, the accounting 
software used by the Company did not have a feature of audit 
trail (edit log) facility both for database and application 
changes.”

12 Mahaveer 
Medi-Sales 
Private 
Limited 

Subsidiary “Based on our examination, which included test checks, the 
Company has used accounting software for maintaining its 
books of account which has a feature of recording audit trail 
(edit log) facility and that has operated throughout the year for 
all relevant transactions recorded in the accounting software, 
except for following:

For application changes 
a. we are unable to comment for one accounting software due to 
lack of information.

For direct database changes 
a. we are unable to comment for two accounting software due to 
lack of information.
And in respect of another accounting software, the accounting 
software used by the Company did not have a feature of audit 
trail (edit log) facility both for database and application 
changes.”
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13 Docon 
Technologies 
Private 
Limited 

Subsidiary “Based on our examination, which included test checks, the 
Company has used multiple accounting software for 
maintaining its books of account which has a feature of 
recording audit trail (edit log) facility and that has operated 
throughout the year for all relevant transactions recorded in the 
accounting software, except for the following:

       
For direct database changes: 
a. audit trail was available for one accounting software,
b. audit trail was not available for three accounting software,
c. we are unable to comment for one accounting software where 
such software has been hosted by a service provider as the 
relevant information is not available in the independent service 
auditor's report.

And in respect of another accounting software, the accounting 
software used by the Company did not     have a feature of audit 
trail (edit log) facility both for database and application 
changes.”

14 Ascent 
Wellness and 
Pharma 
Private 
Limited

Subsidiary “Based on our examination, which included test checks, the 
Company has used multiple accounting software for 
maintaining its books of account, which have a feature of 
recording audit trail (edit log) facility and that has operated 
throughout the year for all relevant transactions recorded in 
the software, except for the following:

(i) in respect of the five-accounting software, the audit trail 
feature was not   enabled at the database level to log any 
direct data changes.

(ii) one accounting software does not have the feature of 
recording audit trail and in respect of another accounting 
software, the audit trail feature was not enabled; and

(iii) in respect of two accounting software, in the absence of 
adequate evidence of necessary controls and documentation 
regarding whether audit trail feature is enabled for all 
relevant transactions, we are unable to comment on the 
audit trail feature of the aforesaid software.”

15 AHWSPL 
India Private 
Limited

Subsidiary “Based on our examination, which included test checks, the 
Company has used multiple accounting software for 
maintaining its books of account, which have a feature of 
recording audit trail (edit log) facility and that has operated 
throughout the year for all relevant transactions recorded in the 
software, except for the following:
(i) one accounting software does not have the feature of 
recording audit trail”
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16 Thyrocare 
Technologies 
Limited 
(Consolidated)

Subsidiary “In respect of the Holding Company, two accounting software 
used by the Holding Company for maintaining its books of 
account during the year ended March 31, 2025 did not have a 
feature of recording audit trail (edit log) facility throughout the 
year, as reported by us.”

“Further, in respect of the Holding Company, one accounting 
software used by the Holding Company for maintaining its 
books of account during the year ended March 31, 2025 did not 
have a feature of recording audit trail (edit log) facility at the 
application level throughout the year and at the database level 
from April 2024 to September 2024, as reported by us.”

17 Akna Medical 
Private 
Limited 
(Consolidated)

Subsidiary “Based on our examination which included test checks, except 
for the instances mentioned below, the Holding Company and 
its subsidiary companies incorporated in India have used 
accounting software for maintaining its books of account, which 
have a feature of recording audit trail (edit log) facility and the 
same has operated throughout the year for all relevant 
transactions recorded in the respective software. 

i. In case of accounting software used for maintaining order 
management software (OMS) by the Holding Company and 
its three subsidiary companies, feature of recording audit 
trial (edit log), facility, except that no audit trail feature was 
enabled at the application and data base level during the 
year ended March 31, 2025. 

ii. In case of accounting software used for Subsidiaries, audit 
trail feature was not enabled throughout the year and also 
not enabled at the database level during the year ended 
March 31, 2025. 

iii. In case of an accounting software used for maintaining 
books of account relating to payroll by the Holding 
Company and all the subsidiaries has used an accounting 
software for maintaining its books of account (managed 
and maintained by a third-party software service provider) 
which has a feature of recording audit trail (edit log) 
facility and the same has been operated throughout the 
year for all the relevant transactions recorded in the 
software. Further, during the course of our audit [and 
considering SOC report], we did not come across any 
instance of audit trail feature being tampered with.”
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18. The Group, its associates and joint venture have paid/provided for managerial 
remuneration in accordance with the requisite approvals mandated by the provisions of 
Section 197 read with Schedule V to the Act. 

 
For Price Waterhouse Chartered Accountants LLP
Firm Registration Number: 012754N/N500016

Sd/-

Nitin Khatri

Partner
Membership Number: 110282

UDIN: 25110282BMOGKC5413

Place: Mumbai 
Date: August 6, 2025
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Report on the Internal Financial Controls with reference to Consolidated 
Financial Statements under clause (i) of sub-section 3 of Section 143 of the Act

1. In conjunction with our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the company as of 
and for the year ended March 31, 2025, we have audited the internal financial controls with 
reference to financial statements of API Holdings Limited (hereinafter referred to as “the 
Holding Company”) and its subsidiaries, its associates, which are companies incorporated in 
India, as of that date.

Reporting under clause (i) of sub section 3 of Section 143 of the Act in respect of the adequacy 
of the internal financial controls with reference to financial statements is not applicable to 
two subsidiaries and one associate incorporated in India namely Think Health Diagnostics 
Private Limited, Care Easy Health Tech Private Limited and Equinox Labs Private Limited, 
pursuant to MCA notification GSR 583(E) dated 13 June 2017.

Management’s Responsibility for Internal Financial Controls

2. The respective Board of Directors of the Holding Company, its subsidiaries, its associates, to 
whom reporting under clause (i) of sub section 3 of Section 143 of the Act in respect of the 
adequacy of the internal financial controls with reference to financial statements is 
applicable, which are companies incorporated in India, are responsible for establishing and 
maintaining internal financial controls based on internal control over financial reporting 
criteria established by the Company considering the essential components of internal control 
stated in the Guidance Note on Audit of Internal Financial Controls Over Financial Reporting 
(“the Guidance Note”) issued by the Institute of Chartered Accountants of India (“ICAI”). 
These responsibilities include the design, implementation and maintenance of adequate 
internal financial controls that were operating effectively for ensuring the orderly and 
efficient conduct of its business, including adherence to the respective company’s policies, 
the safeguarding of its assets, the prevention and detection of frauds and errors, the accuracy 
and completeness of the accounting records, and the timely preparation of reliable financial 
information, as required under the Act.

Auditor’s Responsibility

3. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the company's internal financial controls with 
reference to financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in accordance 
with the Guidance Note issued by the ICAI and the Standards on Auditing specified under 
Section 143(10) of the Companies Act, 2013, to the extent applicable to an audit of internal 
financial controls, both applicable to an audit of internal financial controls and both issued 
by the ICAI. Those Standards and the Guidance Note require that we comply with ethical 
requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
adequate internal financial controls with reference to financial statements was established 
and maintained and if such controls operated effectively in all material respects.
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4. Our audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the adequacy of the 
internal financial controls system with reference to financial statements and their operating 
effectiveness. Our audit of internal financial controls with reference to financial statements 
included obtaining an understanding of internal financial controls with reference to financial 
statements, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, and testing and evaluating the 
design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk. The 
procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks 
of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error.

5. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained and the audit evidence obtained by the 
other auditors in terms of their reports referred to in the Other Matters paragraph below is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion on the Holding Company’s 
internal financial controls system with reference to consolidated financial statements.

Meaning of Internal Financial Controls with reference to Consolidated Financial 
Statements 

6. A company's internal financial control with reference to financial statements is a process 
designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and 
the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally 
accepted accounting principles. A company's internal financial control with reference to 
financial statements includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the 
maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the 
transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance 
that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in 
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and 
expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorisations of 
management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding 
prevention or timely detection of unauthorised acquisition, use, or disposition of the 
company's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Inherent Limitations of Internal Financial Controls with reference Consolidated 
Financial Statements

7. Because of the inherent limitations of internal financial controls with reference to financial 
statements, including the possibility of collusion or improper management override of 
controls, material misstatements due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected. Also, 
projections of any evaluation of the internal financial controls with reference to financial 
statements to future periods are subject to the risk that the internal financial control with 
reference to financial statements may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, 
or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Opinion

8. In our opinion, the Holding Company, its subsidiaries, its associates, which are companies 
incorporated in India, have, in all material respects, an adequate internal financial controls 
system with reference to financial statements and such internal financial controls with 
reference to financial statements were operating effectively as at March 31, 2025, based on 
the internal control over financial reporting criteria established by the Company considering 
the essential components of internal control stated in the Guidance Note issued by the ICAI.
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Other Matter

9. Our aforesaid reports under Section 143(3)(i) of the Act on the adequacy and operating 
effectiveness of the internal financial controls with reference to financial statements insofar 
as it relates to fourteen subsidiaries, which are companies incorporated in India, is based on 
the corresponding reports of the auditors of such companies incorporated in India. Our 
opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

For Price Waterhouse Chartered Accountants LLP
Firm Registration Number: 012754N/N500016

Sd/-

Nitin Khatri

Partner
Membership Number: 110282

UDIN: 25110282BMOGKC5413

Place: Mumbai 
Date: August 06, 2025
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